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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,
There were finally some positive movements in Slovenia’s 
economy in 2014, as shown by the general economic in-
dicators, mainly in GDP growth and industrial production 
indices. We may say that in this respect Slovenia surprised 
pleasantly. However, the situation remains difficult for the 
banking sector and we think this will not change in the me-
dium term. The main problem is the share of non-perform-
ing loans (NPLs). During the year – soon after recapitalisa-
tion of Slovenian banks at the end of 2013 – the dynamics 
of competitiveness among the actors in the banking sector 
changed. They significantly increased supply, in particular 
of financing, and consequently interest rates fell.

In 2014, Sberbank banka fully asserted its brand introduced 
in 2012, and became a generally recognisable and valued 
bank. At the same time, after two years of strong growth, in 
particular of lending, we gradually decelerated the growth 
to a moderate level. This applies in particular to the corpo-
rate segment and to a lesser extent to the micro and retail 
segments, which saw a significant increase in the volume of 
business also in 2014. Among other things, this is also ex-

plained by the retail loan portfolio taken over from Probanka 
(EUR 32 million). In addition, deposits continued to rise, not 
only from corporates, but also from individuals.

The bank recorded an increase in NPLs in 2014, partially 
due to their changed definition and partially due to the fact 
that clients (mainly those who invested in real estate pro-
jects) had been able to serve their debts only in the first 
couple of years of the financial crisis. They can now serve 
their debts only by selling their real estate given to the bank 
as collateral. The bank therefore needed to form impair-
ment allowances in the amount of EUR 18.4 million in 2014 
(2013: EUR 11.7 million).

Performance in 2014:
As already mentioned, the bank decelerated the growth of 
corporate and SME segments in 2014, which grew by 7% at 
the annual level. Such moderate growth shall continue also in 
the coming years. Such revised strategy is on the one hand 
the result of a significant growth in 2012 and 2013, which is 
normally followed by a period of moderate growth, and on 
the other hand it reflects the revised strategy of Sberbank 

Sergey Ludentsov, Gašpar Ogris-Martič, Elisabeth Friedl, Aleš Zajc (from left to right)

Report of the  
Management Board
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Europe AG, which provides for a higher growth of the micro 
and retail segments. The growth of these two segments was 
accordingly considerably higher (45%).

The bank saw an enviable increase in deposits (30%) across 
all segments, with the corporate segment recording a slightly 
higher growth than the retail segment. At this point, we must 
note that as in the previous years, the bank obtained depos-
its from the state (its Ministry of Finance) also in 2014, the 
same as the rest of the banking sector. As regards refinanc-
ing, the bank participated and intends to participate also in 
the future programs offered by the SID bank and, to a limited 
extent, also in the TLTRO offered by the ECB.

The growth in the volume of business is reflected in the in-
crease in income of almost all segments: net interest income 
increased by 36%. We are particularly glad that net fee and 
commission income increased by 56% and net gains from 
derivatives by 179%.

We are glad that we won new clients also in 2014. Compared 
to 2013, their number increased by as much as 31%.

The bank strengthened its staff team further in 2014 to sup-
port the increased number of clients and volume of business, 
but also due to certain changes in the organisation (mainly in 
the retail and micro segments). At year-end 2014, the bank 
had 325 employees. Labour, administrative and operational 
costs in general obviously followed. 

All in all, we earned a profit before credit risk impairments 
of EUR 25.3 million, which is 93% more than in 2013. Profit 
after credit risk impairments and before tax was EUR 6.9 mil-
lion, which is an encouraging development.

These positive trends in Slovenia’s economy are anticipated 
to continue in 2015 and might improve or facilitate the situ-
ation as regards NPLs. Our business will grow moderately, 
slightly more in the retail and micro segments than in the 
corporate segment.

Gašpar Ogris – Martič          Aleš Zajc              Sergey Ludentsov                          Elisabeth Friedl

           Chairman    Deputy Chairman                      MemberA                                      Member
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The bank in numbers  
(2010-2014)
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International network

Sberbank Europe Group (Sberbank Europe AG), headquar-
tered in Vienna, Austria, is a banking group that is 100% 
owned by Sberbank Russia. Sberbank Europe Group is 
present in 11 markets in Europe: Austria, Bosnia and Her-
zegovina (Sarajevo and Banja Luka), Croatia, Czech Re-
public, Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, Serbia, the Ukraine 
and Germany. In total the bank operates 294 branches and 
has 5,157 employees (as at 31.12.2014). 

Due to the crisis in the Ukraine, the year 2014 was char-
acterized by a challenging political and economic environ-
ment. While our mother company, Sberbank Russia, was 
put under sanctions, Sberbank Europe and its subsidiaries 
in the EU countries were not subject to any EU sanctions 
and accordingly not restricted in their access to the EU cap-
ital markets. In March 2014, some of the most renowned 
international banks have provided a debut syndicated term 
loan facility for Sberbank Europe AG for EUR 350 million 
equivalent, to serve new business, especially Large Cor-
porates.

Leveraging the Austrian banking license, Sberbank Direct, 
a 100% subsidiary of Sberbank Europe AG, was launched 

as a branch of Sberbank Europe AG in Germany in summer 
2014. The German subsidiary operates as a flexible, fast 
and effective funding tool for Sberbank Europe AG, offering 
deposit products at attractive conditions. It is established as 
a purely online bank and offers online consumer deposits 
exclusively for private individuals via direct sales channels. 

In addition, Sberbank Europe has started its journey on 
creating a new common Corporate Culture – what Sber-
bank Europe stands for – following the three Sberbank 
principles: “All for the customer – We are a team – I am a 
leader”. In everything we do we are striving to exceed the 
expectations of our customers. We are committed to instill 
confidence, we make people’s lives better, helping them to 
fulfill their dreams and aspirations.

Despite all our achievements, the challenges will continue 
in 2015 and for Sberbank Europe this means that is has to 
continuously adapt to a changing environment. Therefore 
the business model of Sberbank Europe Group will be fur-
ther enhanced, aimed at building a sustainable, profitable, 
self-funded and modern banking group in Europe.

Czech Republic Ukraine

Austria
Sberbank 

Europe AG

Serbia

Hungary

Slovakia

Croatia

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

Slovenia

Germany
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Governing bodies as at 31 December 2014
Supervisory board

Chairman: Valentin Mihov (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna

Deputy Chairman: Markus Krause (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna

Members: Krzysztof Monkiewicz (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna
   Luka Repanšek (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna
             Tatiana Boykova (Sberbank of Russia), Moscow

Audit Committee

Valentin Mihov, Chairman
Markus Krause, Deputy Chairman
Luka Repanšek, Member
Reinhard Kaufmann, Independent Expert

Management Board

Gašpar Ogris-Martič, Chairman
Aleš Zajc, Deputy Chairman
Sergey Ludentsov, Member
Elisabeth Friedl, Member (from 1.4.2014)
Johann Staudigl, Member (until 31.3.2014)

SUPERVISORY BOARD

AUDIT COMMITTEE

MANAGEMENT BOARD

GENERAL 
MEETING

ORGANISATIONAL UNITS
Asset-liability

Committee

Liquidity
Committee

Credit Risk 
Committee

Distressed Assets
Committee

Risk
Committee
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The Sberbank banka Group comprises Sberbank banka d.d. 
and its 100% owned subsidiary Privatinvest, d. o. o., Lju-
bljana, which has its head office at the same address as the 
bank. As at year-end 2014, the subsidiary’s balance sheet 
total was EUR 6,976,114.40, which represented less than 
1% (0.39% to be exact) of the bank’s balance sheet total. 
The value of this equity investment was EUR 1,614,209.62.

The main activity of Privatinvest d. o. o. is acting as real es-
tate agency/intermediary (activity code 68.310). The com-
pany’s directors are Mag. Igor Zalar and Sergey Ludentsov. 
Due to its insignificance for the financial position of the Sber-

bank banka Group, Privatinvest d.o.o was excluded from 
consolidation in accordance with Article 56 of the Companies 
Act (ZGD-1). Banka Slovenije was informed of its exclusion 
from consolidation in accordance with Article 7 of the “Regu-
lation on the supervision on a consolidated basis”. The bank 
also met the IAS 27 requirements regarding the exception 
from consolidation.

Privatinvest d.o.o. was consolidated by Sberbank Europe 
AG, which prepares its consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS.

Sberbank banka Group
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Organisational structure

OU009
CEO

OU009
CFO/COO/CIO

OU001
Board Secretariate

OU002
Internal Audit

OU008
Legal Office

& Compliance

OU009
CRO

OU041
Risk Manager

OU044
Restructuring &

Workout & Collection

OU004
Work - out

OU046
Integrated Risk

Management

OU050
Market & Operation
Risk Management

OU043
Restructuring Pre -

Workout

OU006
Finance Division

OU060
Banking Operations

OU080
Organization & IT

OU005
Controlling

OU007
Accounting

OU035
ALM

OU022
Transaction 

Services

OU042
Credit Administration

- Contracting

OU
Trade finance &

Documentary Businesss

OU061
Credit Administration 

- Booking

OU062
Global Markets

Operations

OU063
Payment 

transactions

OU066
Forced payments

OU065
Cards Operations

OU083
IT Business Solutions

Annotation:

Individual Board Member's (by name) competences are evident from the  “Distribution of areas of responsibilities
of the Managing Board” which is an addendum to the internal Rules of procedure.

Internal Audit is only organizationally subordinated to the CEO. As regards the content and reporting, it is directly responsible to the Managing 
Board.

Compliance office and Anti Money Laundry are allocated to Legal Office & Compliance and are only organizationally subordinated to the CEO. 
As regards the content and reporting, they are directly responsible to the Managing Board.

OU Security is allocated to the IT Operations & Infrastructure department and is only organizationally subordinated to the Organizaton & IT 
division. As regards the content and reporting, it is directly responsible to the Managing Board.

CEO and responsible for Corporate Division and

Global Markets

Member of the Board responsible for CRO Division

Memberof the Board responsible for Reatil Division

Member of the Board responsible for CFO/COO/CIO

Division

Commitee

Staff Unit

Division

Department

Group within an OU, in which common tasks and 

responsibilities are completed

Dislocated OU's (Branches, Agencies)

LEGEND:

OU009
Retail

OU081
Facility Management

OU
Business Analyst

OU011
Products

OU014
Distribution/Branch

Network

OU012
Partnership

& Bancassurance

OU096
Marketing

OU013
Digital Banking

OU030
Investment Banking

& Global Markets

OU023
SME

OU031
GM Trading

OU032
GM Sales

OU930
SME Ljubljana 1

OU931
SME Ljubljana 2

OU932
SME Štajerska

OU933
SME Primorska

OU026
Project Finance

OU021
Business & Product

Support

OE024
Corporate Banking

OU940
Large Corporate

OU941
Regular Corporate

OU942
Public Finance

OU027
Financial Institutions

& Trade Finance

OU003
Human Resources

OU943
Corporate Credit

Anaysis
OU

Trade Finance

OU045
Collections

OU047
Corporate & Retail

Credit Risk
Management

OU048
Corporate / SME

OU049
Micro

OU069
Contact Centre

OU058
Security

OU082
IT Operations &
Infrastructure

OU084
Lean & Organization

Supervisory board

ALCO
Commitee

LIKO
Commitee

CREDIT
Commitee

DACSI
Commitee

SECURITY
Forum

CRISIS
Management

Team

RICO
Commitee

Managing board

OU653
Center for the 

financing of micro
entrepreneurship

OU100
Celje

OU161
Tepanje

OU200
Lj. Miklošičeva

OU350
Lj. Dvorni trg

OU450
Lj. Vič

OU500
Lj. Dunajska

OU800
Lj. Šiška

OU550
Šentjernej

OU300
Koper

OU400
Kranj

OU600
Maribor

OU151
Šentjur
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Short-term indicators indicate a continuation of economic re-
covery in the euro area in the last quarter of 2014; oil prices 
declined further in December, reaching a five-year low. After 
declining in the third quarter, production volume in manufac-
turing, the value of construction put in place and turnover in 
retail trade increased in October (seasonally adjusted) and 
were higher than a year before. The sentiment indicator also 
improved slightly in October and November. Similar to other 
institutions, the ECB also revised downwards its forecasts for 
2015 economic growth (1.0%), the main reason being lower 
expectations regarding growth in exports and investment. In 
December, oil prices dropped by a further 20%, totaling EUR 
50 per barrel.

The short-term indicators of economic activity in Slovenia 
that are mainly based on foreign demand remained high at 
the beginning of the last quarter, while the indicators rely-
ing primarily on domestic demand declined. In October, real 
merchandise exports otherwise remained similar to those in 
the previous month but were much higher than a year ear-
lier. Amid growth in all groups according to technology in-
tensity, production volume in manufacturing rose in October 
and was also significantly larger year-on-year. Construction 
activity declined again in October, being also down year-on-
year for the first time in a long period. After rising in previous 
months, turnover in retail trade also fell in October, remaining 
at almost the same level as a year earlier. The sentiment in-
dicator, which had been improving until mid-2014, remained 
more or less unchanged in the second half of the year, but its 
value was much higher than at the end of 2013.

The labor market situation continues to improve. The number 
of employed persons rose again in October, being up 6,294 
year-on-year in the first ten months. Visible year-on-year 
growth was observed in some private sector activities, which 
also recorded higher indicators of economic activity than a 
year earlier. Companies nevertheless remain cautious about 
hiring, more than half of total growth thus being the result of 
an increase in employment activities leasing labor, mainly in 
the construction and manufacturing sectors according to our 
estimate. The main factor in a further decline in registered 
unemployment (seasonally adjusted) is increased hiring. At 
the end of December, the number of the registered unem-
ployed stood at 119,458, which is 3.7% lower than at the end 
of 2013. The further increase in gross earnings per employee 
in October was accounted for by both the private and the 
public sector.

The year-on-year inflation at the end of 2014 (0.2%) was the 
lowest since independence. Amid the continuation of weak 
domestic demand and a notable decline in commodity prices 
in the second half of the year, prices in most groups were 
down year-on-year in December. The low inflation was main-
ly the result of lower prices of energy and, to some extent, 
food and durable goods, while the contribution of services 
was positive. The latter was to a large extent a consequence 
of a one-off factor at the end of the year, as after declining 
in November, supplementary health insurance premiums 
returned to the previous level in December (in 2013, they 
declined in December). Similar price movements marked 
the entire euro area, which recorded deflation in December 
(-0.2%).

Bank lending activity continues to decline. The volume of 
loans to domestic non-banking sectors excluding October’s 
transfer of claims to the BAMC (EUR 1.1 bn) was down EUR 
1.3 bn in the eleven months to November, which is approxi-
mately a third less than in the same period of 2013. Banks 
only increased lending to the government; the volume of 
corporate and NFI loans and the volume of loans to house-
holds dropped, but the decline in the latter more than halved. 
Household and government deposits rose in 2014, while 
banks continued to reduce liabilities to the rest of the world 
and the ECB. The share of arrears of more than 90 days fell 
to 13.2% in October after September’s substantial increase.

The general government deficit in the first ten months of 
2014 amounted to EUR 1.138 bn, down EUR 266.7 m from 
the same period of 2013. The year-on-year decline is attrib-
utable mainly to measures and one-off events on the reve-
nue side and partly to the strengthening of economic activity, 
which increased growth in main tax revenue categories. On 
the expenditure side, expenditure on some current transfers, 
goods and services, reserves and payments to the EU budg-
et declined, while interest payments and capital expenditure 
were higher than in the same period of 2013.

General business environment 
in 2014

2014201320122011

0.2
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In accordance with the strategy of Sberbank Europe, the 
bank will continue growing its market shares in all business 
segments.

Business-wise, we will start implementing our revised strat-
egy.

Corporate segment
In 2014, the bank continued with its focus on small and me-
dium-sized companies and large companies. All these seg-
ments kept growing despite the current difficult conditions 
in the loan market. The bank will continue dedicating the 
majority of its lending, business and human resources to 
this main target group. We are expecting to see continuous 
growth in loans to these segments throughout 2015. We 
will pay special attention to building an integrated relation-
ship with each client by following the bank’s medium-term 
strategy that lays out the number of clients and the quality 
of relationship with each of them.

Also in 2014, Sberbank banka focused on financing exports 
to and foreign trade with CIS countries. We worked closely 
with the SID bank to insure the risks arising from active 
transactions with counterparties from these countries. It is 
very important that we do business with clients established 
in the countries where Sberbank operates.

In the area of project financing, the bank was mainly in-
volved in the development of small solar power plants, and 
has already identified the development of co-generation 
plants as an important opportunity for the future. Given 
the current conditions, we expect a standstill in residential 
sales on the one hand and residential market differentiation 
in terms of quality and location on the other. In accordance 
with its strategy, the bank does not plan an increase in the 
volume of project financing, but rather a gradual reduction.

Retail segment
In 2015, the retail segment will continue implementing its 
strategy. In addition to growing all its activities, it will focus 
in particular on term deposits and step-by-step saving prod-
ucts. We will also redesign our card platform and introduce 
an innovative card product to the Slovenian market in the 
second half of the year.

Further process optimisation is being carried out with the 
aim to further improve user experience and shorten the time 
required for purchasing a specific bank product or service. 

We will focus also on the loan approval process, both as re-
gards individuals and micro companies. This will be followed 
by the development of digital platforms to enable smooth 
remote transactions with our clients. The introduction of 
mobile banking expected in the first quarter of 2015 will be 
the first concrete expression of this idea. We also plan to 
introduce some innovations in the field of loan products for 
individuals. A further expansion of our partnership network is 
foreseen that should increase the volume of loans granted 
through such a network of credit intermediaries, as well as 
the number of sales campaigns with our partners. Bankas-
surance and advising in accordance with the so-called “well-
managed personal finance” concept remains an important 
factor for ensuring the safety of bank’s customers.

Achievement of everything stated above will only be pos-
sible with highly-motivated and highly-qualified and skilled 
employees; so in parallel we also plan a range of activities 
to ensure that.

Treasury
Global Markets
In 2014, we continued to attract deposits as an alternative 
source of finance for the loan portfolio. Growth in deposits 
will reflect the growth in the loan portfolio, the pace dictated 
by the bank’s activities in the money market and utilisation 
of instruments available at the European Central Bank.

During the year, the bank substantially increased sales of 
financial derivatives to customers and became one of the 
leading banks in the field of financial derivatives in the Slo-
venian financial market. We plan to increase the volume 
and the number of transactions with financial derivatives 
in 2015.

Risk management
Given the economic situation in the market, the Bank put in 
its business plan for 2014 growth in credit volume, assum-
ing an acceptable risk and monitoring liquidity flows of bor-
rowers, enforcing also stricter requirements for a secured 
portfolio. It will also increase its activity on the deposit side 
and as regards other financial and investment products.

In its business plan for 2014, the bank undertook to care-
fully monitor all cost items. In this way, the bank will improve 
the streamlining of operations. As a rule, it will be reducing 
the unsecured portion of its loan portfolio to the benefit of 
secured loans.

Strategy in 2015
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Being aware that the financial crisis affected the real sec-
tor, the bank accordingly strengthened its credit and opera-
tional risk management. Above all, the bank must be able 
to identify clients in difficulty early in order to be able to 
assist them.
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Sberbank banka d.d. has an authorisation to perform bank-
ing services pursuant to Article 7 of the Banking Act (Official 
Gazette of the RS, nos. 131/06, 1/08, 109/08 and 19/09; 
ZBan-1). Banking services are the acceptance of deposits 
from the public and the granting of credits for its own ac-
count.

The bank also has authorisation to perform mutually-recog-
nised and additional financial services listed below.

The bank may perform the following mutually-recognised 
financial services pursuant to Article 10 of the Banking Act:

1. acceptance of deposits;
2. granting of credits, including:
- consumer credits,
- mortgage credits,
- factoring (with or without recourse),
- financing of commercial transactions, including forfeiting;
4. payment transaction services in accordance with the 

Payment Transaction Act (ZPlaP), excluding payment 
system management services;

5. issuance and management of payment instruments 
(i.e. credit cards and travellers’ cheques);

6. issuance of guarantees and other commitments;
7. trading for own account or for account of customers in:
- foreign exchange, including currency exchange trans-

actions,
- exchange and interest-rate instruments,
trading for own account in:
- money market instruments,
- transferable securities;
8. participation in the issuance of securities and services 

related to such issues;
15. investment and ancillary investment services and 

operations.

 
The bank may perform the following additional financial ser-
vices pursuant to Article 11 of the Banking Act:

1. insurance brokerage in accordance with the law gov-
erning the insurance business;

6. marketing of investment funds and the sale of invest-
ment coupons or shares in investment funds.

Loans
Sberbank banka d.d. continued with its active marketing 
to SMEs and private entrepreneurs, its target segment for 
several years now. As always, it paid special attention to 
new product development, as it is committed to regular new 
product introduction. In 2014, the bank allocated even more 
money to the SME segment to ensure dispersion, lower 
risk, better collateral and of course higher margins. In 2014, 
the bank was also successful in the corporate segment, 
which it grew by 34%.

The corporate segment saw good results also in 2014, de-
spite the difficult local economic situation and the aggres-
sive approach of local banks. Income earned increased 
mainly due to the following: higher loan margins; an in-
crease in loans to SMEs and large companies and an in-
crease in trade finance business; there was also a very sig-
nificant increase in the volume of guarantees issued, which 
generated a significant amount of non-interest income.

In the strategically important retail segment, numerous 
activities were carried out in 2014 which resulted in out-
standing results. Loans to individuals increased by 40% to 
stand at EUR 83 million as at year-end. Such growth can be 
mainly contributed to the awakening of the housing market 
and the related increased demand for housing loans. As 
regards housing loans, the bank is well-known for its high-
quality advisory services, individual treatment of customers 
and competitive terms and conditions.

As regards consumer loans, we continued with the “Breath 
easier” marketing campaign, offering customers to refi-
nance their existing loans with a new one, thus reducing 
their monthly payments. In 2014, the bank launched sever-
al loan campaigns in partnership with some large Slovenian 
companies. It received positive feedback and also achieved 
promising results. Progress was also achieved as regards 
co-operation with the loan intermediaries network. The 
bank also started co-operation with several car manufac-
turers and their dealership networks. Portfolio growth was 
achieved also by purchasing the healthy portion of the retail 
portfolio from Probanka in the amount of 32 million EUR.

In 2014, an extraordinary progress was made as regards 
micro loan portfolio, which grew from EUR 32 million to 
EUR 65 million EUR, which correspond to a growth index 
of 205.

Loans to banks increased by EUR 106 million, as the bank 
had less short-term deposits placed with banks as it had at 
year-end 2013.

Core business
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Loans by client type 31 Dec 2013 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2014 Structure (%) Index

Banks 2,387 0 106,161 108,548 8 4,547
Companies 901,853 80 83,057 984,910 71 109
Households 219,818 20 83,096 302,914 22 138
Total loans 1,124,058 100 272,314 1,396,372 100 124

Loans by maturity
Short-term 91,416 8 116,952 208,368 15 228
Long-term 1,032,642 92 155,362 1,188,004 85 115

Loans by currency
EUR 1,053,076 94 276,137 1,329,213 95 126
Foreign exchange indexation 28,507 3 -487 28,020 2 98
Foreign currencies 42,475 4 -3,336 39,140 3 92

As regards loan maturity, long-term loans prevailed. They 
increased by 15% to EUR 1,188 million, while short-term 
loans increased by 128% to EUR 208 million. The share 
of short-term loans in the total loans granted by the bank 
increased by 7 percentage points to 15%, while the share of 
long-term loans decreased by 7 percentage points to 85%.

Euro-denominated loans grew by 26% to EUR 1,329 milli-

on. Loans with a foreign exchange indexation clause decre-
ased by 2% due to regular repayments, the same as loans 
in foreign currencies (down by 8%). Euro-denominated lo-
ans account for the largest portion (95%) of the bank’s loan 
portfolio, followed by foreign currency-denominated loans 
(3%) and loans with a foreign exchange indexation clause 
(2%). Ever since the onset of the financial crisis in Septem-
ber 2008, the bank has not offered loans in Swiss francs.

thousand EUR
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Loans (structure in %)

Loans to banks

Loans to companies

Loans to households

Deposits
Deposits from non-banks and banks represent the most im-
portant source of financing available to the bank. Deposits 
as at year-end 2014 exceeded EUR 1,544 million, up 20% 
from a year ago. As regards deposit currency, 91% were 
euro-denominated and the remaining 9% were foreign cur-

rency-denominated. As regards deposit maturity, 42% were 
long-term (mainly placed by banks) and the remaining 58% 
were short-term. Deposits are shown in the balance sheet 
within financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (ex-
cluding subordinated debt).

Deposits from banks increased by 4% to represent 35% of 
the total deposits collected by the bank.

Deposits by client type 31 Dec 2013 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2014 Structure (%) Index

Banks 523,258 41 23,141 546,399 35 104

Companies 529,756 41 197,239 726,995 47 137

Households 236,776 18 33,871 270,647 18 114

Total deposits 1,289,790 100 254,251 1,544,041 100 120

Deposits by maturity

Short-term 776,368 60 125,987 902,355 58 116

Long-term 513,422 40 128,264 641,686 42 125

Deposits by currency

EUR 1,155,402 90 255,788 1,411,191 91 122

Foreign exchange indexation 0 0 0 0

Other 134,388 10 -1,538 132,850 9 99

thousand EUR

In the above table, the item “Deposits by client type”, “Banks”, 
includes also long-term loans obtained from banks, which at 
year-end 2014 amounted to EUR 298,849 thousand (2013: 
EUR 335,708 thousand).

73
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6
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71

22
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In 2014, the corporate segment actively attracted new depos-
its, which increased 37% compared to year-end 2013. Also 
as regards deposits in E-Interest accounts, they did a huge 
work in terms of deposit dispersion and volume stability.

The retail segment grew household deposits by EUR 34 
million, up 15% form 2013. This is the result of trust that 
our clients put in our financial stability and safety, as well 
as of the significant increase in sight deposits. Sight de-
posits grew due to the significant increase in the number 
of bank accounts opened with our bank, as well as due to 

our competitive saving and E-Interest accounts. With these 
accounts, the bank addresses the need of clients to have 
money always available but still earn attractive interest 
rates. To achieve balance between sight and term deposits, 
the bank launched a campaign promoting term deposits in 
September. The results followed until year-end. In the sub-
segment of micro companies, deposits grew by EUR 9.3 
million EUR or 20% compared to 2013.

The bank had EUR 271 million of household deposits at the 
end of 2014.

Deposits (structure in %)

Deposits from banks

Deposits from companies

Deposits from 
households
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Available-for-sale debt  
securities
In 2014, the bank’s portfolio of long-term securities in-
creased by 17% to EUR 127.8 million. In the first half of 
the year, the bank continued with the investment policy of 

increasing its portfolio. In the second half of the year, in or-
der to comply with new Group guidelines which define the 
maximum investment in a security (the so-called ISIN limit), 
the bank sold part of its portfolio and invested the proceeds 
in short-term government securities (treasury bills), as well 
as increased lending to Group banks, both at comparable 
returns.

31 Dec 2013 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2014 Structure (%) Index
Long-term securities 153,946 100 -75,099 78,847 62 51

 - Government bonds, domestic and foreign 93,884 61 -66,136 27,748 22 30

 - Bonds issued by Slovenian banks 10,037 7 -8,960 1,077 1 11

 - Bonds issued by foreign banks 50,025 32 -3 50,022 39 100

 - Other long-term securities 0 0 0 0 0 0

Short-term securities 0 0 48,930 48,930 38 0

 - Government bonds and treasury bills 0 0 48,930 48,930 38 0

Total investments in securities 153,946 100 -26,169 127,778 100 83

Investments in securities by currency

EUR 153,946 100 -26,169 127,778 100 83

Foreign currencies 0 0 0 0 0 0

thousand EUR
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Payment transactions
Already in 2013, the volume of payment transactions in-
creased by around 300%, as the bank started processing 
payment orders for its Group banks. This trend continued 
and growth reached 336% in 2014, mainly due to the in-
creased number of bank accounts. Both international and 
domestic payment transactions increased.

International payment transactions

In November 2014, SB Croatia joined the SEPA payment 
system through our bank, as an indirect participant.

Compared to 2013, the volume of international payment 
transactions increased considerably – 174% (per cent). 
The total volume of international payment transactions in 
2014 was EUR 10,792 million.

IPT 2013 structure (%) change 2014 structure (%)

incoming 4,907 79.07 3,308 8,215 76.12

outgoing 1,299 20.93 1,278 2,577 23.88

total 6,206 100 4,586 10,792 100

million EUR

Sberbank banka d.d. processes cross-border and interna-
tional payments mainly by using trans-European payment 
systems such as SEPA and TARGET2. Our own correspond-
ent network consists of 16 nostro accounts abroad (3 multi-
currency) and 12 loro accounts with the bank and is used for 
treasury transactions as well as for payment transactions.

As much as 92.2% of international payments were made 
through the internet banking channel.

Structure of international payment transactions:
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Domestic payment transactions

Domestic payment transactions increased in 2014 by 
133.34% in number terms, and by 162.19% in volume terms.

The total volume of domestic payment transactions in 2014 
was EUR 14,341 million.

DPT 2013 structure (%) change 2014 structure (%)

incoming 4,336 49.04 3,545 7,881 54.95

outgoing 4,506 50.96 1,954 6,460 45.05

total 8,842 100 5,499 14,341 100

thousand EUR

As much as 97.81% of all domestic payments were made 
through the internet banking channel or 1.17% more than 
in 2013.

Insurance products

Also in 2014, the bank continued providing advice to its cli-
ents within the “well-managed personal finance” concept. 
We started a complete renewal of the bankassurance area, 
and established co-operation with two other insurance com-
panies – Generali and GRAWE – in addition to the ERGO 
insurance company. We launched four new insurance prod-
ucts: two offer long-term saving through life insurance (the 
Generali FLEGMA unit-linked and the GRAWE pension 
insurance), and two offer collective life insurance (CPI – 
Creditor protection insurance) with GRAWE to individuals 
who took out consumer and housing loans. Renewal of the 
bankassurance area will continue in 2015, when we expect 
to launch additional insurance products.

The bank managed to increase income by around 35% 
compared to 2013, a trend which is expected to continue 
in 2015.

Derivative financial instruments

In 2014, the bank provided services related to currency, 
interest rate and commodity derivatives to banks and com-
panies. The latter are increasingly aware of the role that de-
rivatives play in reducing risks. As a rule, the bank provides 
services related to derivatives only to first-class clients, and 
only within certain limits. All derivative transactions are also 
closed out in the domestic and international inter-bank mar-
kets. In 2014, the bank significantly increased the volume 
of transactions with currency, interest rate and commodity 
derivatives. The majority were closed out on a “back-to-
back” basis.

Structure of domestic payment transactions:
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At year-end 2014, the bank’s balance sheet total amounted to EUR 1,779 million, up EUR 301 million or 20% from 2013.

Statement of financial position

Structure of assets
The table below shows bank assets as at 31 December:

thousand EUR

Assets 31 Dec 2013 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2014 Structure  (%) Index

Cash and balances with central bank and 
other demand deposits at banks 176,996 12 47,560 224,556 13 127

Financial assets held for trading 2,232 0 3,056 5,288 0 237

Available-for-sale financial assets 153,970 10 -26,169 127,801 7 83

Loans and receivables 1,125,160 76 271,971 1,397,131 79 124

Held-to-maturity financial assets 8,059 1 -1,005 7,054 0 88

Property, plant and equipment 8,760 1 815 9,576 1 109

Investment property 33 0 5,028 5,061 0 0

Intangible assets 461 0 162 624 0 135

Equity investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures 1,614 0 0 1,614 0 100

Tax assets 641 0 -465 176 0 27

Other assets 448 0 -69 379 0 85

TOTAL ASSETS 1,478,374 100 300,886 1,779,260 100 120

20132012

1,478,3741,337,899

Total assets as at 31 december
thousand EUR

2014

1,779,260
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Loans (to banks and non-banks) accounted for 79% of total 
assets and increased by EUR 271.9 million from 2013. Lo-
ans to non-banks increased by EUR 166 million and bank 
loans increased by EUR 106 million.

Available-for-sale financial assets decreased by EUR 26.2 
million or 17% and accounted for 7% of total assets. The 
decrease is mainly from sale of Republic Slovenia’s bonds, 
which the bank have sold due to improve daily liquidity at the 
end of the year.

Cash and balances with the central bank increased by EUR 
47.6 million to EUR 224.6 million and represented 13% of to-

tal assets. The increase is mainly attributable to an increase 
in balances with Banka Slovenije as at year-end 2014.

Property, plant and equipment increased by EUR 815 thou-
sand, mainly due to renovation of outlets of the bank.

Structure of liabilities and 
equity
The table below shows bank liabilities as at 31 December:

thousand EUR

Liabilities and equity 31 Dec 2013 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2014 Structure  (%) Index
Financial liabilities held for trading 2,398 0 2,887 5,285 0 220

    Derivatives (hedge accounting) 0 0 0 0 0 0

    Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,356,001 92 267,993 1,623,994 91 120

Provisions 1,034 0 423 1,458 0 141

Tax liabilities 101 0 971 1,072 0 0

Other liabilities 965 0 -380 585 0 61

Subscribed capital 88,140 6 20,000 108,140 6 123

Capital reserves 27,248 2 0 27,248 2 100

Accumulated other comnrehensive 
income -2,891 0 3,298 407 0 -14

Reserves from profit 6 0 0 6 0 100

Retained earnings  
(including  income from the current year) 5,371 0 5,694 11,065 1 206

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,478,374 100 300,886 1,779,260 100 120

Financial liabilities at amortised cost increased the most, by 
EUR 267.9 million. Those to non-banks increased by EUR 
197.2 million.

Financial liabilities held for trading increased by 120% or 
EUR 2.9 million. The increase is resulting from new deals 
and changes on the market.

Provisions increased by 41% or EUR 423 thousand, mostly 
from employee benefit provisions in amount EUR 233 thou-
sand. The increase is resulting from the change of actuarial 
prepositions and increasing of the number of employees.
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Off-balance sheet items
The volume of off-balance-sheet operations involving the 
bank‘s contingent and assumed liabilities increased by 
EUR 295 million to EUR 652 million in 2014.

thousand EUR

Off-balance-sheet risky assets 31 Dec 2013 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2014 Structure (%) Index

Contingencies arising from pledged collateral,
acceptance and other contingencies and
commitments (including pledged assets  
for client's liabilities)

89,789 25 44,269 134,058 21 149

Extended loans and advances, overdrafts, 
credit lines carried on assets side and 
other off-balance sheet commitments

108,870 31 136,564 245,434 38 225

Notional amounts of spot transactions 15,860 4 -14,689 1,171 0 7

Notional amounts of derivatives 142,107 40 129,137 271,244 42 191

Total 356,626 100 295,281 651,907 100 183

Loans, overdrafts and credit lines granted increased by 
EUR 137 million to EUR 245 million.
Notional amounts of derivatives increased by 91% to EUR 
271 million. Notional amounts of spot transactions de-
creased by EUR 15 million to EUR 1 million as at year-end 

2014. In term of market risk exposure, the bank concluded 
only closed transactions. Liabilities from guarantees, letters 
of credit and other contingent liabilities increased by 49% to 
EUR 134 million as at year-end 2014. 
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The bank closed the 2014 business year with a net profit 
of EUR 5,694 thousand, calculated in accordance with In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards. The structure 

of net income and expenses in 2014 is shown in the table 
below:

Results from operations

Net income and expenses 2013 Change 2014 Index

Net interest and similar income 24,982 9,006 33,988 136

Net fee and commission income 4,556 2,563 7,119 165

Dividend income 0 0 0 0

Net gains/losses from financial assets not at fair value 1,579 3,948 5,527 350

Net gains/losses from financial assets held for trading -671 3,458 2,787 0

Net foreign exchange gains/losses 1,137 -2,985 -1,848 0

Net gains/losses on derecognition of assets -7 46 39 0

Other net operating income/expenses 298 -167 131 44

General administrative expenses  
(including amortisation/depreciation) -18,800 -3,684 -22,484 120

Provisions -11 -89 -100 913

Impairment -11,736 -6,552 -18,288 156

Total profit or loss before tax 1,326 5,545 6,871 518

Income tax and deferred taxes -168 -1,008 -1,177 699

Net profit or loss for the current year 1,158 4,536 5,694 492

thousand EUR

Net interest in 2014 was 36% higher than in 2013 due to the 
increase in the volume of loans.

Net fees and commissions for banking services increased 
by EUR 2,563 thousand or 56%.The increase in fees and 
commissions for administrative services and international 
and domestic payment transactions contributed the most 
to this growth.

Net gains from financial assets held for trading increased 
by EUR 3,458 thousand. This item also includes the results 
from derivative financial instruments (off-balance sheet 
items) used for managing the bank’s open foreign currency 
positions. The results from open foreign currency positions 
carried on-balance sheet are shown under net foreign ex-
change gains/losses (down by EUR 2,985 thousand). In 

order to have a clear view of the results achieved by the 
bank in this area, both positions must be summed up. This 
sum total increased by EUR 473 thousand in 2014 (2014: 
EUR 364 thousand, 2013: EUR 109 thousand), mainly due 
to the higher income from derivative financial instruments 
sold to customers.

Administrative expenses including amortisation/deprecia-
tion were 20% higher than in 2013. They comprise labour 
costs, costs of material and services, and amortisation/de-
preciation charge. Administrative expenses grew the most.

The bank recognised impairments of EUR 18,288 thou-
sand, in accordance with its internal policy of assessment 
of losses arising from credit risk.
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The provision of financial services is inevitably linked with 
risks. These represent the probability of future events af-
fecting the bank’s stability or its income and capital. Due to 
their important role in national economies and to preserve 
client trust, banks must conduct their operations with due 
care and prudence, and maintain an adequate level of capi-
tal for potential risk losses coverage.

There are several risks inherent in banking operations that 
differ in terms of their nature and level. Banks also differ in 
their scope of risk appetite, which depends on their size, 
organisation and culture. Let us illustrate this with an exam-
ple of two banks: one that considers credit risk as high and 
the other that considers it as low. This affects their market 
activities (their aggressiveness and innovativeness), their 
loan portfolio concentration, their product diversification, 
their accepted collateral types, etc. Both approaches are 
perfectly legitimate and each could be the right one given 
the business environment in which the banks operate.

The central bank of Slovenia issued a “Regulation on risk 
management and implementation of the internal capital ad-
equacy assessment process for banks and savings banks” 
(Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 135/06, 28/07, 104/07, 
85/10, 62/11, 3/13, 28/13, 60/13 and 73/13), laying down 
the rules on risk management in banks. Pursuant to said 
Regulation, the banks must prepare strategies for assum-

ing and managing risks, thus revealing their approach to 
the risks assumed within the scope of their activities.

Strategies for assuming and managing risks must com-
prise:
• the objectives of and general principles for assuming 

and managing risk,
• an approach to managing individual risks,
• an approach to implementing the internal capital ad-

equacy assessment process, and
• an outline of plans with regard to significant business 

activities, and a description of planned changes, if any, 
in the bank‘s business strategy.

Risks shall include credit risk, market risks, interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, strategic risk, reputation 
risk, capital risk and profitability risk.

A more detailed description of credit risk, liquidity risk, mar-
ket risks (including currency risk), interest rate risk and op-
erational risk that the bank is exposed to can be found in 
the notes to the financial statements under section 3. That 
section also includes the bank’s strategies for assuming 
and managing risks, and other information required under 
the “Regulation on the books of account and annual reports 
of banks and savings banks”, and under IFRS 7.

Risk exposure
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The bank‘s equity comprises subscribed capital, capital 
reserves, reserves from profit, accumulated other compre-
hensive income and retained earnings including income 
from current year.

Sberbank banka, d. d. received new capital from Sberbank 
Europe AG in 2014 and its subscribed capital increased by 
EUR 20 million. It comprises 25,932,948 ordinary shares 

with a nominal value of EUR 4.17. Capital reserves were 
not changed by receiving additional capital and comprised 
mainly share premium.

At year-end 2014, book value of a share calculated based 
on the bank’s total equity was EUR 5.66, which is EUR 0.08 
less than as per 31. 12. 2013.

Equity and shareholders

thousand EUR

Equity 31 Dec 2013 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2014 Structure (%) Index

Subscribed capital 88,140 75 20,000 108,140 74 123

Capital reserves 27,248 23 0 27,248 19 100
Accumulated other comprehensive 
income -2,891 -2 3,298 407 0 -14

Reserves from profit 6 3 0 6 0 100
Retained earnings (including income 
from the current year) 5,371 1 5,694 11,065 8 206

Total equity 117,874 100 28,992 146,866 100 125

At year-end 2014, the bank’s share register showed 27 own-
ers, of which 1 was foreign and 26 domestic. Of all shares, 
as much as 99.98% were held by Sberbank Europe AG. In 
addition to the Slovenian Sberbank banka d.d., Sberbank 
Europe AG owns banks also in Slovakia, the Czech Re-
public, Hungary, Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Serbia, 

Ukraine and Germany , which have 294 sales outlets and 
5,157 employees altogether.

Sberbank Europe AG was, as at 31 December 2014, 100% 
owned by Sberbank of Russia.

Shareholders as at 31 december 2014
Share of the bank’s subscribed capital

SBERBANK EUROPE AG 99.98 %

Domestic shareholders 0.02 %

Total 100.0 %

The bank’s financial statements are included in the consoli-
dated financial statements prepared by Sberbank Europe 
AG, which are available for viewing at Schwarzenbergplatz 

3, Vienna, and at the bank’s head office in Ljubljana. The 
bank does not have treasury shares in its portfolio, and did 
not form reserves to buy back treasury shares.

Movements in equity items in 2014:
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Branch network
In 2014, the bank had the same number of business units 
as a year ago. In addition to the branch at the bank’s head 
office (at Dunajska cesta 128a in Ljubljana, where the bank 
moved in the second half of 2001), this network comprises 
also the following branches: Gosposka, Miklošičeva, Vič and 
Pavšičeva. The bank’s branches outside the capital comprise 
branches in:
• Koper,
• Kranj,
• Celje 
• Šentjur pri Celju,
• Maribor,
• Tepanje and
• Šentjernej.

The bank also opened a centre providing micro financing at 
its head office at Dunajska cesta. At the same time, mainte-
nance and renovation of offices continued.

Capital investments
In 2012, the bank got a new owner and accordingly launched 
a project related to the new name of the bank, involving also 
a renovation of its headquarters and branches.

In 2014, renovation of the following branches continued: Ma-
ribor, Šentjur, Koper and Vič in Ljubljana. It was completed 
by year-end, so that the branches are now aligned with the 
Group’s corporate image.

The bank acquired additional office space within its head offi-
ce building, which were renovated and furnished.

As planned, the bank continued with investing in security sy-
stem maintenance and modernisation in all branches.

Organisation and informa-
tion technology support
In 2014, the organisation and information technology unit re-
mained focused on developing support to the new banking 
products, as well as on ensuring continuity of the existing 

banking processes, thus indirectly contributing to the quality 
of services.
In order to use lean methodologies in the optimisation of ban-
king processes and to improve project management quality, a 
new Lean Organisation department was set up within this unit.

The internal information technology environment was impro-
ved with the following in 2014:
• migration to the IP telephone technology
• replacement of old desktops
• implementation of an internal helpdesk
• upgrade of the backup systems
• renewal of DRC
• virtualisation and consolidation of servers
• implementation of a new data warehouse
• implementation of WI-FI at the bank’s head office
• regular working visits to branches

Other important tasks /projects were also completed in 2014:
• implementation of a web page for the bank’s contractors
• upgrade of the loan module in CBS
• electronic processing of enforcement orders
• upgrade of the AML module
• automaton of overnight deposit disbursement
• processing of payment orders scans
• implementation of early collection support
• implementation of e-HRM and e-learning
• introduction of Halcom e-banking for corporates
• support related to the acquisition of the Probanka loan 

portfolio
• implementation of a contact centre

To increase security, the bank again upgraded the IDS/IPS 
system, which detects and blocks unauthorised access to 
and manipulation of the bank’s information system.

In order to ensure continuity of all critical banking processes, 
the bank regularly updates its business continuity plan and 
organises crisis training for its employees. A switchover to the 
secondary location was carried out also in 2014.

All the above-mentioned activities, as well as others pursued by 
the organisation and information technology unit, were designed 
and managed as projects, with the objective to enhance the IT 
support to the bank’s new products and improve the bank’s in-
ternal processes. In accordance with the principle of continuous 
knowledge expansion and transfer, the bank organised addition-
al training for its employees in the field of information security 

Development milestones
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policy and protection, and thus raised awareness and improved 
management of relevant risks.

Employees
In 2014, the bank registered a high increase in the number of 
employees, from 260 at year-end 2013 to 325 one year later, 
an increase of 25%. This is the highest increase in the bank’s 
history and reflects the trend of a very active business expan-
sion and new business strategies within the Sberbank Group.

The average number of employees in 2014 was 300. Their 
educational structure remained excellent, as 61% of all em-
ployees had at least higher education.

Human resources management in 2014 was strengthened 
with the following:
• implementation of a new performance management and 

target leadership system;
• completion of an employee satisfaction survey aimed at 

defining priority areas for improvement (many of the rela-
ted activities/projects have already been carried out);

• implementation of a new corporate culture, following the 
principles of the Sberbank Group;

• implementation of a new »Leadership Academy« aimed 
at improving the skills and competencies of the mana-
gers;

• participation in the »Talent has no Boundaries« initiative 
launched by Sberbank Europe to allow participation of all 
Group companies in projects at the Group level.

All these activities were aimed at improving effectiveness, 
change management and work conditions and environment, 
as well as at allowing employee mobility within the Sberbank 
Europe Group. The latter promotes employee personal and 
professional development, which fundamental for their suc-
cess.

Employee training was focused on those areas that were 
work processes-related and deemed necessary to build em-
ployees‘ expertise and ensure service and product quality. 
One of priority areas in 2014 was process optimisation follow-
ing the »Sberbank Production System« concept based on the 
Lean & Six Sigma management. Several training sessions 
were organised together with the parent Sberbank Europe 
bank involving 34 (step-by-step workshops) and 33 employ-
ees (green belt certificate) respectively.

Social responsibility
Social responsibility of the bank starts with contributing to-
wards the banking system stability, and with being accountable 
to all with whom we do business. It continues with providing 
high-quality services, as well as with ensuring a healthy envi-
ronment and professional development for our employees. We 
are aware of our responsibility to the environment in which we 
operate and as part of this environment we want to contribute 
to its development. We do not want just to watch the develop-
ments around us, but rather actively help create a social envi-
ronment. For many years we have been involved in humanitar-
ian activities and supported sports and cultural activities.

In 2014, we were more active in the area of sponsorships and 
donations as in the previous years. So far, we have sponsored 
a number of promising young athletes and helped them on 
their path to success. Donations have been mainly intended for 
humanitarian institutions, primarily those supporting children.

Two years ago, the bank obtained the family-friendly company 
certificate, and is therefore committed to carrying out any nec-
essary activities and measures to promote a better work-life 
balance. Several years ago, we established a sports club (to 
facilitate our employees’ regular sports activity and their par-
ticipation in recreational sports competitions). As much as two-
thirds of all employees are members of the bank’s sports club.

Through our sponsorships and donations, we are exercising our 
accountability to the immediate and broader social environment. 
In the seasons 2013/2014 and 2014/2015, we were the golden 
sponsor of Slovenia’s Nordic ski team, namely of the men’s 
and women’s ski jumping teams, of the men‘s and women‘s 
cross-country ski teams and of the entire Nordic combined team. 
In this relation, we also sponsored the biggest Slovenian sports 
event in 2014, the ski jumping world cup final in Planica. We also 
support David Kadunc, who is a mountain ultra runner, a mara-
thon runner and an ultra marathon runner. We are the sponsor 
of ŠD Narodni dom Ljubljana and the diamond sponsor of the 
most popular cycling event in Slovenia, Marathon Franja.

For several years now, we have refrained from giving cor-
porate Christmas gifts and rather paid the savings so aris-
ing to the Paediatric Clinic of the University Medical Centre 
Ljubljana to purchase the much-needed equipment. We work 
with the regional Red Cross organisations, the Russian Cul-
tural Centre, the Slovenia-Russia Friendship Society and a 
number of other organisations and societies.
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Key facts

 2012 2013 2014

1. Balance sheet items (as at 31 December)

Balance sheet total 1,337,899 1,478,374 1,779,260

Total deposits from non-banks 589,930 766,532 997,642

a) corporate deposits 396,469 529,769 726,995

b) household deposits 193,461 236,763 270,647

Total loans to non-banks 960,027 1,121,671 1,287,842

a) corporate loans 743,313 901,853 984,910

b) household loans 216,714 219,818 302,914

Total equity 118,825 118,700 146,866

Impairment and provisions 29,168 40,994 55,000

Off-balance sheet items 155,539 356,626 651,907

Average household deposits 172,945 215,865 250,099

Average household loans 220,275 217,397 250,470

2. Income statement items (for the year ended 31 December)

Net interest income 18,421 24,982 33,988

Net non-interest income 4,478 6,892 13,755

Labour costs, general and administrative expenses -13,444 -17,982 -21,401

Amortisation/depreciation -845 -818 -1,083

Impairment and provisions -8,400 -11,747 -18,388

Profit before tax 211 1,326 6,871

Income tax -55 -168 -1,177

3. Number of employees (as at 31 December) 218 260 325

4. Shares (as at 31 December)

Number of shareholders 27 27 27

Shares outstanding 21,136,784 21,136,784 25,932,948

Nominal value per share (EUR) 4.17 4.17 4.17

Book value per share (EUR) 5.62 5.58 5.66

 2012 2013 2014

thousand EUR
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 2012 2013 2014

5. Indicators (%, unless otherwise indicated)

 a) Equity

Equity for capital adequacy purposes (thousand EUR) 182,012 178,408 200,641

Capital adequacy ratio 12.76% 16.45% 15.85%

 b) Asset quality

Impairments as% of total credit risk exposure 2.14 2.58 2.64

c) Profitability   

Interest margin 1.69 1.77 2.08

Interest + non-interest margin 2.10 2.26 2.92

Return on assets 0.02 0.09 0.42

Return on equity before tax 0.24 1.14 5.09

Return on equity after tax 0.18 0.99 4.22

d) Operating costs   

Operating expenses/average assets 1.31 1.33 1.37

e) Liquidity   

Average liquid assets/average short-term deposits from non-banks 37.96 55.19 41.09

Average liquid assets/average assets 11.08 22.06 18.39

thousand EUR
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The Supervisory Board acted in accordance with the Bank-
ing Act (ZBan-1, Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 99/10-
UPB5 and following), Companies Act (ZGD-1, Official 
Gazette of the RS, nos. 65/09-UPB3 and following), Regu-
lation on the Diligence of Members of the Management and 
Supervisory Boards (Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 62/11 
and following), the bank‘s Statute, and the bank‘s Rules of 
Procedure of the Supervisory Board.

In 2014, the Supervisory Board comprised following mem-
bers: Valentin Lubomirov Mihov (Chairman), Markus Bodo 
Krause (Deputy Chairman, appointed on 5.6.2014), Krzysz-
tof Łukasz Monkiewicz (member, appointed on 5.6.2014), 
Luka Repanšek (member, appointed on 5.6.2014) and Tati-
ana Boykova (member).

Andras Krisztian Hamori was recalled from his function as 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board and member 
of the Supervisory Board on 5.6.2014. David Vandal was 
recalled from his function as member of the Supervisory 
Board on 5.6.2014. Jörg Langner was a member of the Su-
pervisory Board until 4.6.2014 when he resigned. 

Supervisory Board is constituted of four members who are 
representatives of the bank‘s majority shareholder (Sber-
bank Europe AG which holds 99.98% of the bank), and 
one of Sberbank Russia (100% owner of Sberbank Europe 
AG). All members have the necessary knowledge and ex-
perience for adopting decisions in the best interest of the 
bank, and assure independent, unbiased, professional, ob-
jective, fair and comprehensive performance of their duties 
as Supervisory Board members. The Supervisory Board 
members elect from amongst themselves a chairman and 
a deputy chairman.

The Supervisory Board supervised the legitimacy, ex-
pediency and economy of the bank‘s management in its 
4 regular and 1 constitutive meeting held in 2014 as well 
as through the Management Board’s reports. It regularly 
considered the Management Board‘s reports and adopted 
the necessary resolutions throughout 2014. Attendance of 
members at the Supervisory Board‘s meetings was high, 
76% in total.

In the first half of 2014, the Supervisory Board focused 
mainly on the 2013 operational result (and approved it) as 
well as on the Internal Audit‘s annual report and approved 
Internal Audit plan for 2014.

In accordance with the Banking Act, the Supervisory Board 
at its 51st regular meeting held on 9.6.2009 established the 
Audit Committee which is constituted of 3 members of the 
Supervisory Board and 1 independent expert. In 2014 the 
members of the Audit Committee met at 4 regular meetings.

Throughout 2014 the Supervisory Board supervised the 
implementation of the resolutions adopted by Supervisory 
Board and the general assembly, and adequacy of the in-
ternal control system. It considered the quarterly reports of 
the Internal Audit and other supervisory bodies, as well as 
of the Management Board. It approved the 2014 financial 
plan, and otherwise promptly and thoroughly considered 
all important matters concerning the bank‘s operations, 
strategy and policies in order to assure effective work of 
the Supervisory Board. It regularly supervised the bank‘s 
management and performance, and examined the reports 
of the Management Board, the Internal Audit and the exter-
nal auditor.

The 2014 annual report as per 31.12.2014 was audited by 
Ernst & Young, d.o.o., Ljubljana. In their opinion the Sber-
banka banka d.d.’s financial statements, prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union, present fairly, in all ma-
terial aspects, the bank‘s financial position as at 31.12.2014, 
as well as its operational result and its cash-flows for the 
year then ended. The business report was considered as 
compliant with the audited financial statements.

Based on this opinion, as well as on the 2014 financial re-
port prepared by the Management Board, the Supervisory 
Board confirmed the 2014 annual report.

The Supervisory Board expresses its appreciation to 
the bank’s Management Board and employees for their 
achievements in 2014.

Report of the 
Supervisory Board

Ljubljana, April 2015 Valentin Lubomirov Mihov

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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The management of the Bank has approved the financial 
statements of Sberbank banka, d. d. for the year ended 31 
December 2014, the applied accounting policies, and the 
notes to the financial statements (pages 36 to 102).

The management of the Bank is responsible for preparing 
the annual report, which gives a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2014 and 
the results of its operations for the year then ended. 

The management of the Bank confirms that accepted ac-
counting policies have been used on a consistent basis and 
that the accounting estimates have been made in compli-
ance with the principle of prudence. The management of 
the Bank also confirms that the financial statements have 

been prepared on the assumption of a going concern and 
in compliance with the relevant legislation and International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

The management is also responsible for the proper man-
agement of accounting, taking appropriate measures to 
protect the Bank‘s assets and preventing and discovering 
fraud, other irregularities or illegal acts. 

Tax authority is allowed to start tax audit in five years fol-
lowing the year when the tax return has to be filed. Conse-
quently, additional tax liabilities, penalty interest and fines 
could arise out of income tax and other taxes. Management 
board is not aware of any circumstances which could cause 
material liability out of this matter.

Statement of 
management’s responsibilities

Ljubljana, April 2015

Gašpar Ogris – Martič        Aleš Zajc     Sergey Ludentsov                         Elisabeth Friedl

 
          Chairman       Deputy Chairman         Board Member                Board Member 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2014
ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES

                AMOUNT
31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Cash and cash balances with central banks 4 224,556 176,996

Financial assets held for trading 5 5,288 2,232

Available-for-sale financial assets 6 127,801 153,970

Loans and receivables 7 1,397,131 1,125,160

- debt securities 7.1 0 0

- loans to banks 7.2 108,548 2,387

- loans to non-bank customer 7.3 1,287,824 1,121,671

- other financial assets 7.4 760 1,102

Held-to-maturity investments 8 7,054 8,059

Property, plant and equipment 9 9,576 8,760

Investment property 9 5,061 33

Intangible assets 9 624 461

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 10 1,614 1,614

Tax assets 11 176 641

- current taxes 36 13

- deferred taxes 140 628

Other assets 12 379 448
TOTAL ASSETS 1,779,260 1,478,374
Financial liabilities held for trading 13 5,285 2,398

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 14 1,623,994 1,356,001

- deposits from banks and central banks 14.1 247,549 187,549

- deposits from non-bank customers 14.2 994,662 763,559

- loans from banks 14.3 298,849 335,708

- loans from non - bank customers 14.4 2,981 2,973

- debt securities 14.4 11,915 0

- subordinated liabilities 14.6 60,900 60,919

- other financial liabilities 14.7 7,138 5,293

Provisions 15 1,458 1,034

Tax liabilities 16 1,072 101

Other Liabilities 17 585 965
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,632,394 1,360,500
Share capital 18 108,140 88,140

Share premium 18 27,248 27,248

Accumulated other comprehensive income 18 407 -2,891

Reserves from profit 18 6 6

Retained earning (including income from the current year) 18 11,065 5,371

TOTAL EQUITY 18 146,866 117,874
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,779,260 1,478,374

thousand EUR

Note: Explanations are part of financial statements and should be read in relation to them.
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Income statement for the period 
from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2014

ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES

         AMOUNT
for the 

period from 
1 Jan  to  31 Dec 2014

for the 
period from 

1 Jan  to  31 Dec 2013
Financial and operating income and expenses 47,743 31,873
Interest income 21 53,351 46,326

Interest expenses 21 -19,363 -21,344

Net interest income 21 33,988 24,982
Dividend income 22 0 0

Fee and commission income 23 8,653 5,548

Fee and commission expense 23 -1,534 -992

Net fee and commission income 23 7,119 4,556
Realised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities  
not measured at fair value through profit or loss 24 5,527 1,579

Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading 25 2,787 -671

Exchange differences 26 -1,848 1,137

Gains and losses on derecognition of assets and liabilities held for 
trading 27 39 -7

Other operating net income 28 131 298

Administrative expenses 29 -21,401 -17,982

Amortization and depreciaton 30 -1,083 -818

Provisions 31 -100 -11

Impairment 31 -18,288 -11,736

TOTAL PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 32 6,871 1,326
Tax expense (income) related to profit and loss from continuing 
operations 32 -1,177 -168

TOTAL PROFIT  AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 32 5,694 1,158
NET PROFIT OR LOSS for the financial year 5,694 1,158

Basic earnings per share 19 0.22 0.05

Diluted earnings per share 19 0.26 0.05

thousand EUR

Note: Explanations are part of financial statements and should be read in relation to them.
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Statement of comprehensive income 
from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2014

ITEM DESCRIPTION

               AMOUNT
for the 

period from 
1 Jan  to  31 Dec 2014

for the 
period from 

1 Jan  to  31 Dec 2013
NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX 5,694 1,158
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER TAX 3,298 -2,109
ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 3,298 -2,109
Available-for-sale financial assets 3,931 -2,498
Valuation gains (losses) taken to equity 3,931 -2,498

Income tax relating to components of the other comprehensive income -633 389
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX 8,992 -951

thousand EUR
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2014

ITEM DESCRIPTION
Share

Capital
Share

Premium

Accumulated 
other  

comprehensive 
income

Reserves
from profit

Retained earnings 
(including  profit

from the current year)
Total

equity
OPENING BALANCE  
(BEFORE RESTATEMENT) 88,140 27,248 -2,684 6 5,164 117,874

Effects of corrections of errors -207 207

Effects of chnages in accounting policies

OPENING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 88,140 27,248 -2,891 6 5,371 117,874

Comprehensive income for the 
financial year after tax 0 0 3,298 0 5,694 8,992

New share capital subscribed 
(paid) 20,000 20,000

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 108,140 27,248 407 6 11,065 146,866

BALANCE SHEET AVAILABLE 
PROFIT for financial year 0 5,694 5,694

thousand EUR
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2013

ITEM DESCRIPTION Share
Capital

Share
Premium

Revaluation
reserve

Reserves
from profit

Retained earnings 
(including  profit
from the current 

year)
Total

equity
OPENING BALANCE FOR  
THE REPORTING PERIOD 88,140 27,248 -782 6 4,213 118,825

Comprehensive income  
for the financial year after tax 0 0 -1,902 0 951 -951

CLOSING BALANCE  
FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD 88,140 27,248 -2,684 6 5,164 117,874

BALANCE SHEET AVAILABLE PROFIT 
for financial year 0 951 951

thousand EUR

Change of retained earnings of the financial year:
Net profit of the financial year in amount EUR 1,158 thousand, deducted by actuarial losses, recognized in retained earnings in amount 
EUR 207 thousand
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Statement of cash flows 
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2014

Desig-
nation ITEM DESCRIPTION

               AMOUNT
for the 

period from 
1 Jan to 

31 Dec 2014

for the 
period from 

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2013

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
a) Total profit or loss before tax 6.870 1.326

Depreciation 1.083 818
Impairments / (reversal of impairments) of loans and receivables 18.288 11.736
Net (gains) / losses from exchange differences 1.848 -1.137
Net (gains) / losses from sale of tangible assets and investment properties -39 18
Unrealised (gains) / losses from financial assets measured at fair value that are 
component of cash equivalents 99 355

b) (Increases) / decreases in operating assets (excl.cash ˛cash equivalents) 867 110
Net (increase) / decrease in balances with central banks 29,016 13,226
Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets held for trading -258,839 -207,174
Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets designated at fair value through  
profit or loss -88 -12

Net (increase) / decrease in loans and receivables 33,734 -35,139
Net (increase) / decrease in assets-derivatives - hedge accounting -292,751 -175,448

c) (Increases) / decreases in operating liabilities 266 3,425
Net (increase) / decrease in financial liabilities to central bank 266,891 101,740
Net (increase) / decrease in deposits, loans and receivables measured  
a amortised cost 252,926 97,654

Net increase / (decrease) in debt instruments in issue measured at amortised cost 11,915 0
Net (increase) / decrease in liability-derivative - hedge accounting 81 10
Net (increase) / decrease in other liabilities 1,969 4,076

č) Cash flow from operating activities (a+b+c) 37,068 -92,208
d) Income taxes (paid) refunded -374 651
e) Net cash flow from operating activities (č+d) 36,694 -91,557
B. CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
a) Receipts from investing activities 1,084 23

Receipts from the sale of tangible assets and investment properties 77 11
Receipts from the sale of financial assets held to maturity 1,000 0
Other receipts from investing activities 7 12

b) Cash payments on investing activities -7,382 -1,899
(Cash payments to acquire tangible assets and investment properties) -7,061 -1,584
(Cash payments to acquire intangible fixed assets) -321 -315

c) Net cash flow from investing activities (a-b) -6,298 -1,876
C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
a) Cash proceeds from financing activities 20,000 52,000

Cash proceeds from subordinated liabilities issued 0 52,000
Cash proceeds from issuing shares and other equity instruments 20,000 0

b) Cash payments on financing activities 2,737 -10,729
(Cash repayments of subordinated liabilities) 0 -10,000
(Other cash payments related to financial activities) 2,737 -729

c) Net cash flow from financing activities (a-b) 17,263 41,271
D. Effects of change in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents -99 -355
E. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (Ae+Bc+Cc) 47,659 -52,162
F. Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 176,996 229,513
G. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents (D+E+F) 224,556 176,996

thousand EUR
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Notes to financial statements

1. Introduction
Sberbank banka d.d., Dunajska cesta 128 a, 1000 Ljubljana, 
prepared its annual report in accordance with International 
Financial Accounting Standards as adopted by the Euro-
pean Union, and the “Regulation on the books of account 
and annual reports of banks and savings banks”. In form-
ing its accounting policies, the bank also considered other 
legislation, such as the “Regulation on the assessment of 
credit risk losses of banks and savings banks”, and other 
regulations and instructions issued by Banka Slovenije.

The bank’s majority owner as at 31 December 2013 was 
Sberbank Europe AG, Schwarzenbergplatz 3, 1010 Wien, 
Austria, which in turn is consolidated within Sberbank of 
Russia. The consolidated financial statements are available 
for viewing on their web page.

Financial statements were audited by Ernst & Young, d.o.o., 
Ljubljana, which issued an unqualified opinion.

2. Significant accounting  
      policies
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the 
financial statements are fully compliant with IFRS as adopt-
ed by the European Union, and the bank’s internal policies.

All significant accounting policies are presented on the fol-
lowing pages. They were consistently applied in both finan-
cial years presented, except if otherwise indicated. If nec-
essary, comparative data were restated in order to assure 
comparability with the current period.

a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union.

b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements were prepared on the historical 
cost basis, except for financial assets held for trading and 
available-for-sale financial assets, which are measured at 
fair value.

c) Use of estimates and judgements
Preparation of the financial statements requires manage-
ment to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the report-
ed amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 
actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, 
and in any future periods affected.

Estimates were made in relation to loan impairment, provi-
sions for off-balance sheet risks, amortisation/depreciation 
period of intangible assets/property, plant and equipment, 
and provisions for employee benefits and pending lawsuits.

d) Definition of the Group
The Group consists of Sberbank banka d.d. as parent, and 
Privatinvest, d.o.o., as subsidiary (100% owned by the par-
ent).

The bank’s equity investment in the subsidiary is recog-
nised at costs in its financial statements.

In accordance with Article 7 of the “Regulation on the super-
vision on a consolidated basis” and due to its insignificance 
for the financial position of the Sberbank banka Group, 
Privatinvest was excluded from consolidation. The bank is 
meeting the IAS 27 requirements regarding the exception 
from consolidation. Privatinvest was consolidated by Sber-
bank Europe AG, which prepares its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS.

e) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in euro, which is the 
bank‘s functional and presentation currency. All financial in-
formation is presented in thousand EUR.

f) Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated to the func-
tional currency at the relevant exchange rates on the trans-
action date. Foreign exchange differences are recognised 
in profit or loss.

g) Property, plant and equipment
The bank uses the cost model, under which an item of prop-
erty, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumu-



43SBERBANK Si  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014

lated depreciation, and impaired only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment.

Depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment 
begins when it is available for use. It is then depreciated 
using the straight-line method over its useful life. This is the 
period of time over which an asset is expected to be used 
by the bank, and is the following:

• buildings   up to 40 years
• computer equipment  from 3 to 5 years
• motor vehicles  from 4 to 8 years
• other equipment  from 3 to 10 years

The useful life in 2014 did not change and it is the same as 
in 2013.

Land is recognised separately from buildings. Its useful life 
is unlimited and it is therefore not depreciated. In case of 
co-ownership of offices, the value of the appertaining land 
is included in the cost of such offices.

On annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for indi-
cation of impairment. If  such an indication is available, the 
bank estimates the recoverable amounts of such assets. If 
that is lower than initial costs minus accumulated deprecia-
tion, impairment of such an asset is needed. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset‘s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
on disposal or when no further benefits are expected from 
them. 

When loss of a fixed asset occurs, the difference between 
the net market value and the current book value is shown 
in gains and losses or in losses occurred at elimination of 
fixed assets.

h) Investment property
Investment property includes buildings held for leasing and 
not occupied by the Bank. Investment property is stated at 
fair value determined by a certified appraiser. Fair value 
is based on current market prices. Any gain or loss aris-
ing from a change in fair value is recognized in the income 
statement. If there is a change in use due to the com-
mencement of owner occupation, investment property is 
transferred to owner occupied property.

i) Intangible assets
The Bank uses the cost model for measuring intangible 
assets. After initial recognition intangible assets are de-
preciated. They are impaired only if there is indication of 
impairment. Intangible assets comprise computer software 
and licences. An item of intangible assets is amortised us-
ing the straight-line method. Items of intangible assets are 
derecognised on disposal or when no further benefits are 
expected from them. At this point, amortisation stops.

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life. This 
is the period of time over which an asset is expected to be 
used by the bank, and is the following:

• licences from 5 to 10 years
• software up to 4 years

On annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for in-
dication of impairment. If  such indication is available, the 
bank estimates the recoverable amount of intangible as-
sets annually. If it is lower than the cost, an impairment loss 
must be recognised. Recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset‘s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The bank does not have intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life, which would require impairment testing on an 
annual basis.

j) Financial assets
On initial recognition, the bank classifies financial instru-
ments into the following categories, taking into account the 
purpose of purchase, the holding period and the type:

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
can be held for trading, which means that they were 
acquired for the purpose of selling in the short term, 
or can be designated as such in accordance with IAS 
39. The bank classifies all equity, debt and derivative 
instruments (except those designated as hedging in-
struments) as held for trading;

• held-to-maturity financial assets: are financial as-
sets with determinable payments and maturity that the 
bank intends and is able to hold to maturity;

• available-for-sale financial assets: are expected to 
be held for an indefinite period of time and can be sold 
for liquidity purposes or due to changes in interest ra-
tes, foreign exchange rates or prices of financial instru-
ments;
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• loans and receivables: are financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.

Based on a decision to purchase a security, the asset-liabil-
ity committee defines the purpose of purchase and classi-
fies the security accordingly.

Purchases of financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised on the trade date.

Financial assets other than those at fair value through profit 
or loss are initially recognised at fair value, increased by 
any transaction costs directly attributable to the purchase.

Gains and losses on financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss for the same 
period. Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial as-
sets are recognised in other comprehensive income, and 
transferred to profit or loss on derecognition due to disposal 
or impairment.

Held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amor-
tised cost.

The bank derecognises a financial asset when the contrac-
tual rights to receive the cash flows from it expire, or when 
it transfers the asset together with all the risks and rewards 
of ownership. Regular way purchases and sales are recog-
nised using trade date accounting. Trade date is the date 
on which the bank undertakes to purchase or sell the asset. 
The bank derecognises a financial liability when its contrac-
tual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

k) Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets are impaired based on the provisions and 
criteria:

• laid down in the bank’s policy of assessment of credit 
risk losses, and

• applicable to measurement of financial instruments at 
fair value.

Specifics in the case of an inactive market:

If the transaction price of a financial instrument in an in-
active market significantly differs from the fair value of the 
same instrument in another comparable market, or if the 

transaction price significantly differs from the price based 
on a valuation model, which takes into account assump-
tions of an active market, the bank immediately recognises 
the difference between the transaction price and the fair 
value in the income statement, under net gains and losses 
from trading as the “day one” profit or loss. If the market 
price is irrelevant, the difference between the transaction 
price and the price based on a valuation model is recog-
nised in the income statement only when the market be-
comes relevant or when the instrument is sold.

l) Measurement of financial instruments at fair va-
lue
Financial assets held for trading, financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, and available-for-sale financial 
assets are measured at fair value.

Fair value is based on the asset‘s quoted market price in 
an active market at the balance sheet date. If this is not 
available, the bank establishes the fair value by using the 
discounted cash flow or pricing models.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair 
value, with changes in fair value recognised in other com-
prehensive income.

Prior to each reporting date the bank assesses whether 
there are impairment signals in the financial assets avail-
able for sale. A significant or long-term decline of finan-
cial asset’s fair value below its cost is also an objective 
evidence of impairment. The decision of what presents an 
important or long-term decline in fair value is based on 
estimates. In making such estimates, among other fac-
tors, the bank takes into account the volatility of securities 
prices.

In the case of impairment of debt financial assets, which 
are available-for-sale, the cumulative loss is recognized 
in the income statement, which can be reversed. If, in a 
subsequent period, fair value of a debt of financial assets 
available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objec-
tively related to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, the reversal of impairment loss is recognized 
through the income statement.

In the case of impairment of available-for-sale equity se-
curities, an impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement. Reversal of impairment of equity securities is 
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not reversed through the income statement, but the subse-
quent increase in fair value is directly recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

m) Financial instruments at amortised cost
Held-to-maturity financial instruments may be impaired if 
there is objective evidence of impairment. Impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between the asset‘s carrying 
amount and the net present value of estimated cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset‘s original effective interest 
rate. It is recognised in the income statement.

n) Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives, including currency futures/forward contracts, 
currency options, interest rate swaps and futures/forward 
contracts relating to securities, are used by the bank for 
trading and hedging purposes. They are measured at fair 
value (market prices), with changes in fair value recognised 
in the income statement.

o) Loans and receivables
Loans are measured at amortised cost. They are recog-
nised at the principal outstanding, increased by interest and 
fees accrued, and reduced to account for allowances, in 
accordance with the bank‘s policy of assessment of credit 
risk losses.

The bank assesses on an ongoing or at least quarterly ba-
sis whether there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and whether such events affect 
the cash flows from the asset that can be reliably estimat-
ed. Such evidence could include the following: a debtor‘s 
failure to make payments when due, a debtor‘s imminent 
bankruptcy, compulsory settlement or financial reorganisa-
tion, etc.

Impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset‘s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
cash flows discounted at the financial asset‘s original effec-
tive interest rate. In case of first-class collateral, cash flows 
from usage of such collateral are also included. The asset‘s 
carrying amount is reduced directly or through the allow-
ance account. Impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss relating to a financial asset decreases, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed in the income state-
ment.

If possible, the bank prefers to restructure loans rather 
than to take possession of collateral. Loan restructuring 
involves extending payment agreements and collaboration 
on achieving new terms, which are acceptable for both par-
ties. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is 
no longer considered past due, but client’s rating cannot 
improve only based on restructuring. The bank constant-
ly monitors the compliance with the terms of restructured 
loans and at the same time monitors the likelihood of future 
repayments. Restructured loans continue to be subject to 
an individual or collective impairment assessment, calcu-
lated on the basis of the original effective interest rate of 
the loan.

p) Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid assets that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash equivalents include:

• cash and balances in the settlement account with the 
central bank and in the current accounts with other 
banks;

• loans to banks with an original maturity of up to three 
months; and

• investments in debt securities issued by the Member 
States or their central banks or the European Central 
Bank with an original maturity of up to three months.

r) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities comprise liabilities to clients for the de-
posits made, liabilities to creditors for the loans granted, 
liabilities from securities issued, and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognised at the amounts arising 
from the relevant documents, which evidence the receipt 
of cash, and are measured at amortised cost. They are 
increased by accrued interest/returns and reduced by the 
amounts paid.

s) Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial posi-
tion if the bank has a present obligation (legal or construc-
tive) as a result of a past event; and if it is probable that 
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an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation, which can be reliably 
estimated. The bank has provisions for employee benefits 
(severance and similar), off-balance sheet liabilities, pend-
ing lawsuits, etc.

The bank has provisions for retirement and anniversary 
benefits that reflect the net present value of its future ob-
ligations. These are calculated for each employee by esti-
mating the costs of his or her retirement bonus as laid down 
in the employment contract, and the costs of all his or her 
anniversary bonuses until retirement. For the Sberbank Eu-
rope Group, a certified actuary based in Austria calculates 
such future obligations for long-term employee benefits for 
each Group entity separately.

The bank recognises provisions for off-balance sheet liabili-
ties when the conditions are met as laid down in the bank’s 
policy of assessment of credit risk losses.

t) Financial and operating income and expenses
Financial and operating income and expenses are recog-
nised if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to/from the bank, and if they can be measured reliably.

u) Interest income and expenses
Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income 
statement using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability, and of 
allocating its interest income or expenses over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future flow of cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, when appropriate, in a shorter period, to the carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When cal-
culating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate 
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument but not future credit losses. The calculation in-
cludes all payments or receipts between parties to the con-
tract (interest, fees, transaction costs, etc.)

v) Dividends
Dividend income comprises dividends and shares of profit 
arising from the bank’s equity investments. Dividend in-
come is recognised in the income statement on the date 
when the bank’s right to receive payment is established.

z) Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income comprises the amounts char-
ged by the bank for the services provided, in accordance 
with the bank's tariff or contracts between the bank and its 
clients.

Fee and commission expenses comprise the amounts paid 
by the bank for the services provided by others, in accor-
dance with the contracts between the bank and such third 
persons.

Fee and commission income and expenses are recognised 
in the income statement when the service is completed.

aa) Income and expenses from financial transac-
tions
Income and expenses from financial transactions comprise 
realised gains or losses from financial assets not measured 
at fair value through profit of loss, and gains or losses from 
trading in equity and debt securities and derivatives meas-
ured at fair value through profit or loss.

ab) Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses comprise rentals for 
offices leased out, and other operating income, as well as 
duties, membership fees and other operating expenses.

ac) Impairment
Impairment comprises impairment of financial assets meas-
ured at amortised costs recognised in accordance with the 
bank’s policy of assessment of credit risk losses.

ad) Taxes
Current tax is recognized at the amount calculated by the 
bank in accordance with the Corporate Profit Tax Act (ZD-
DPO-2) and applying the rate of 17% (for 2014).

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, 
which are the differences between the tax base of an asset 
or liability and its carrying amount in the statement of finan-
cial position. Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax 
rates that are expected to apply when assets are realised 
or liabilities are settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible tem-
porary differences to the extent that it is probable that tax-
able profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised.
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Deferred tax associated with measurement of available-for-
sale financial assets is recognised directly in other compre-
hensive income.

ae) Segment reporting
Segment reporting is used only by the Sberbank Europe 
Group, which presents segment information in respect of 
the Group’s business and geographical segments. The 
Group’s primary format for segment reporting is based on 
business segments, determined by the Group’s manage-
ment and internal reporting structure.

af) Employee benefits
Employment benefits include retirement and anniversary 
bonuses. Provisions for employee benefits are calculated 
by an independent actuary. In 2014, they were estimated 
using the latest employee data and the following assump-
tions:

• interest rate: 2.15% (previous year: 2.5%),
• future salary increase: 3.5% (previous year: 3.5%).

The bank as employer pays certain statutory contributions 
which amount to 16.1% of the gross salaries paid, and has 
otherwise no other obligations. Contributions are recog-
nised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 
They are included within labour costs in the income state-
ment. Under Slovenian legislation, employees retire after 
35 to 40 years of service when, provided they meet certain 
conditions, they are entitled to a one-off retirement bonus. 
They are also entitled to an anniversary bonus for every 10 
years of service.

These obligations are measured as the net present value of 
future obligations, while any gains and losses arising in this 
connection are recognised in the income statement.

In year 2013, the bank recognized actuarial losses not pre-
viously recognized. The impact on the financial statements 
was not significant, so the bank did not correct the state-
ments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 19 and IAS 8.

ag) Related parties
Under the »Regulation on large exposures of banks and 
savings banks«, a group of related parties means the fol-
lowing:

• a group consisting of two or more natural or legal per-

sons who, unless proved otherwise, constitute a single 
risk for the bank because one of them, directly or indi-
rectly, has control over the other or others;

• a group consisting of two or more natural or legal per-
sons between whom there is no relationship of control, 
but who are regarded as constituting a single risk for 
the bank because they are so interconnected that, if 
one of them were to experience financial problems, 
the other or all others would be likely to encounter re-
payment difficulties.

Generally, related parties are all persons who hold more 
than a 50% share of another legal person, or legal persons 
which are majority-owned by such persons. When deter-
mining a group of related clients, the bank must in particular 
consider the following forms of ties:

• legal persons that have common holders of shares;
• companies related by joint control;
• entities that are mutually economically connected and 

dependent, these ties being irreplaceable in the short 
term;

• individual natural persons and their immediate family 
members;

• natural persons, and legal persons in which these nat-
ural persons are members of management bodies or 
have any other significant influence in their manage-
ment of the legal persons;

• natural persons that pursue business activities as pri-
vate entrepreneurs, and their immediate family mem-
bers.

When determining a group of connected clients, the bank 
does not consider relations with the central government.

ah) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when the 
bank has a legal right and intention to set off an asset 
against a liability, or when the asset is realised and the li-
ability settled at the same time.

ai) Repurchase agreements
Securities purchased but agreed to be sold back (under re-
purchase agreements) are included within loans to clients. 
Under such agreements, the risks and rewards of owner-
ship are not transferred to the bank, for which reason they 
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have the characteristics of loans collateralised with secu-
rities. The difference between the purchase and selling 
price is recognised as interest income, allocated over the 
relevant period by means of the effective interest method.

aj) Leases
A finance lease is a lease in which the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the 
lessee. Title may be passed to the lessee or not. Under a 
finance lease contract, the lessee may purchase the as-
set or return it to the lessor. Such a lease usually cannot 
be unilaterally terminated. Deprecation of leased assets is 
consistent with depreciation of the bank’s own assets.

A lease other than a finance lease is an operating lease.

Bank as lessee
In the case of operating leases, all payments made are rec-
ognised in the income statement over the contract term. If 
the contract is terminated early, all payments to the lessor 
due to such early termination are recognised as expenses 
upon termination.

Assets acquired under finance lease contracts are included 
in property, plant and equipment at the lower of their fair 
value or present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Payments made are recognized as interest expense. Prop-
erty, plant and equipment assets acquired under finance 
lease contracts are depreciated over the shorter of their 
estimated useful life or lease term if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the bank will obtain their ownership by the end 
of the lease term.

Bank as lessor
Assets leased out under operating lease contracts are in-
cluded in investment property or property, plant and equip-
ment. Lease income is recognised in the income statement 
over the contract term.

In the case of assets leased out under finance lease con-
tracts, the present value of future lease payments is recog-
nised as a receivable under finance lease contracts. Lease 
income is recognised as interest income over the contract 
period, reflecting a constant periodic return of the bank.

ak) Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that provide for pay-
ments to be made if the debtor fails to make payment 

when due. The bank issues financial guarantees to other 
banks, financial institutions and non-banking clients in 
order to insure their debts, overdrafts and other transac-
tions.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value. 
Subsequently, they are recognised at the higher of the fair 
value less any fees and the present value of disbursements 
that the bank, based on its data and experience, expects to 
be required to settle the obligation. An increase in liabilities 
from financial guarantees is included within other operating 
expenses in the income statement.

al) Fiduciary business
Assets acquired by the bank within its fiduciary busi-
ness are not risky and therefore kept separately from 
the bank’s own assets. Fiduciary services comprise ser-
vices associated with loan arrangement and securities 
transactions on behalf of third parties, for which the bank 
charges a fee.

am) Standards and interpretations
The accounting policies, used in the preparation of the fi-
nancial statements are consistent with those of the annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013, 
except for new and amended standards as of 1 January 
2014, as presented below.

Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, 
IFRS 12 and IAS 27) 
These amendments provide an exception to the con-
solidation requirement for entities that meet the defini-
tion of an investment entity under IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements and must be applied retrospec-
tively, subject to certain transition relief. The exception 
to consolidation requires investment entities to account 
for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. These 
amendments have no impact on the financial statements 
of the Bank. 

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabiliti-
es - Amendments to IAS 32 
These amendments clarify the meaning of ’currently has a 
legally enforceable right to set-off’ and the criteria for non-
simultaneous settlement mechanisms of clearing houses to 
qualify for offsetting and is applied retrospectively. These 
amendments have no impact on the financial statements 
of the Bank. 
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Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hed-
ge Accounting – Amendments to IAS 39 
These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge 
accounting when novation of a derivative designated as a 
hedging instrument meets certain criteria and retrospective 
application is required. These amendments have no impact 
on the financial statements of the Bank as the Bank has not 
novated its derivatives during the current or prior periods. 

IFRIC 21 Levies 
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a 
levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified 
by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is trigge-
red upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation 
clarifies that no liability should be anticipated before the 
specified minimum threshold is reached. Retrospective ap-
plication is required for IFRIC 21. This interpretation has 
no impact on the financial statements of the Bank as it has 
applied the recognition principles under IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets consistent 
with the requirements of IFRIC 21 in prior years. 

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle 
In the 2010-2012 annual improvements cycle, the IASB is-
sued seven amendments to six standards, which included 
an amendment to IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The 
amendment to IFRS 13 is effective immediately and, thus, 
for periods beginning at 1 January 2014, and it clarifies in 
the Basis for Conclusions that short-term receivables and 
payables with no stated interest rates can be measured at 
invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is imma-
terial. This amendment to IFRS 13 has no impact on the 
financial statements of the Bank. 

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle 
In the 2011-2013 annual improvements cycle, the IASB is-
sued four amendments to four standards, which included an 
amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment to IFRS 1 
is effective immediately and, thus, for periods beginning at 
1 January 2014, and clarifies in the Basis for Conclusions 
that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard 
or a new standard that is not yet mandatory, but permits 
early application, provided either standard is applied consi-
stently throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first 
IFRS financial statements. This amendment to IFRS 1 has 
no impact on the financial statements of the Bank, since the 
Bank is an existing IFRS preparer.

2E. Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet 
effective, up to the date of issuance of the Bank’s financial 
statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt 
these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the finan-
cial instruments project and replaces IAS 39 Financial In-
struments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous 
versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new require-
ments for classification and measurement, impairment, and 
hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 
permitted. Retrospective application is required, but com-
parative information is not compulsory. Early application of 
previous versions of IFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013) is per-
mitted if the date of initial application is before 1 February 
2015. The adoption of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the 
classification and measurement of the Bank’s financial as-
sets, but no impact on the classification and measurement 
of the Bank’s financial liabilities.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose 
activities are subject to rate-regulation, to continue applying 
most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral 
account balances upon its first-time adoption of IFRS. Enti-
ties that adopt IFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral 
accounts as separate line items on the statement of financial 
position and present movements in these account balances 
as separate line items in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. The standard requires disclo-
sures on the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s 
rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its 
financial statements. IFRS 14 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Since the Bank is an 
existing IFRS preparer, this standard would not apply.

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions
IAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from em-
ployees or third parties when accounting for defined benefit 
plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they 
should be attributed to periods of service as a negative 
benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the amount of 
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the contributions is independent of the number of years of 
service, an entity is permitted to recognize such contribu-
tions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which 
the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contribu-
tions to the periods of service. This amendment is effec-
tive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 
It is not expected that this amendment would be relevant 
to the Bank, since none of the entities within the Bank has 
defined benefit plans with contributions from employees or 
third parties.

Annual improvements 2010-2012 Cycle
These improvements are effective from 1 July 2014 and are 
not expected to have a material impact on the Bank. They 
include:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies var-
ious issues relating to the definitions of performance and 
service conditions which are vesting conditions, including:
• A performance condition must contain a service con-

dition
• A performance target must be met while the counter-

party is rendering service
• A performance target may relate to the operations or 

activities of the Bank
• A performance condition may be a market or non-mar-

ket condition
• If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to 

provide service during the vesting period, the service 
condition is not satisfied.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that 
all contingent consideration arrangements classified as li-
abilities (or assets) arising from a business combination 
should be subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss whether or not they fall within the scope of 
IFRS 9 (or IAS 39, as applicable).

IFRS 8 Operating Segments
The amendments are applied retrospectively and clarifies that:
• An entity must disclose the judgements made by ma-

nagement in applying the aggregation criteria in pa-
ragraph 12 of IFRS 8, including a brief description of 
operating segments that have been aggregated and 
the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross 
margins) used to assess whether the segments are 

»similar«
• The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is 

only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is re-
ported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to 
the required disclosure for segment liabilities.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 
Intangible Assets
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in 
IAS 16 and IAS 38 that the asset may be revalued by ref-
erence to observable data on either the gross or the net 
carrying amount. In addition, the accumulated depreciation 
or amortization is the difference between the gross and car-
rying amounts of the asset.

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that 
a management entity (an entity that provides key manage-
ment personnel services) is a related party subject to the 
related party disclosures. In addition, an entity that uses 
a management entity is required to disclose the expenses 
incurred for management services.

Annual improvements 2011-2013 Cycle
These improvements are effective from 1 July 2014 and are 
not expected to have a material impact on the Bank. They 
include:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies for 
the scope exceptions within IFRS 3 that:
• Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside 

the scope of IFRS 3
• This scope exception applies only to the accounting in 

the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that 
the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 can be applied not only to 
financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other con-
tracts within the scope of IFRS 9 (or IAS 39,as applicable).

IAS 40 Investment Property
The description of ancillary services in IAS 40 differentiates 
between investment property and owner-occupied prop-
erty (i.e., property, plant and equipment). The amendment 
is applied prospectively and clarifies that IFRS 3, and not 
the description of ancillary services in IAS 40, is used to 
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determine if the transaction is the purchase of an asset or 
business combination.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new 
five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from con-
tracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recog-
nized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 
provide a more structured approach to measuring and rec-
ognizing revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and 
will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements 
under IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective applica-
tion is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Bank is 
currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to 
adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements:  
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator 
accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint opera-
tion, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes 
a business must apply the relevant IFRS 3 principles for 
business combinations accounting. The amendments also 
clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is 
not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest 
in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In 
addition, a scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 to 
specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties 
sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are un-
der common control of the same ultimate controlling party.
The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial in-
terest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional 
interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments are 
not expected to have any impact to the Bank.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarificati-
on of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortization
The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 
that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are 
generated from operating a business (of which the asset is 

part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed 
through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based 
method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and 
equipment and may only be used in very limited circum-
stances to amortise intangible assets.

The amendments are effective prospectively for annual pe-
riods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adop-
tion permitted. These amendments are not expected to have 
any impact to the Bank given that the Bank has not used a 
revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: 
Bearer Plants
The amendments change the accounting requirements for 
biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants. 
Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the 
definition of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope 
of IAS 41. Instead, IAS 16 will apply. After initial recognition, 
bearer plants will be measured under IAS 16 at accumu-
lated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost model 
or revaluation model (after maturity). The amendments also 
require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain 
in the scope of IAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to 
sell. For government grants related to bearer plants, IAS 
20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance will apply. The amendments are 
retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These 
amendments are not expected to have any impact to the 
Bank as the Bank does not have any bearer plants.

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separa-
te Financial Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity meth-
od to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates in their separate financial statements. Enti-
ties already applying IFRS and electing to change to the 
equity method in its separate financial statements will have 
to apply that change retrospectively.

For first-time adopters of IFRS electing to use the equity 
method in its separate financial statements, they will be 
required to apply this method from the date of transition 
to IFRS. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption 
permitted. These amendments will not have any impact on 
the Banks’s financial statements.
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3. Risk management
Bank of Slovenia issued a “Regulation on risk management 
and implementation of the internal capital adequacy asses-
sment process for banks and savings banks” (Official Ga-
zette of the RS, nos. 135/06, 28/07, 104/07, 85/10, 62/11, 
3/13, 38/13, 60/13 and 73/13), laying down the rules on risk 
management in banks. Pursuant to the Regulation, banks 
must prepare strategies for assuming and managing risks, 
thus revealing their approach to the risks they assume in 
the scope of their operations.

Strategies for assuming and managing risks must comprise 
the following:

• objectives and fundamental principles for assuming 
and managing risk,

• an approach to managing specific risks,
• an approach to implementing the internal capital 

adequacy assessment process, and
• an outline of plans with regard to significant business 

activities, as well as a description of planned changes, 
if any, in the bank's business strategy.

The risks covered by such strategies shall comprise credit 
risk, market risks, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, operational 
risk, strategic risk, reputation risk, capital risk and profitability 
risk.

The bank must comply with the general risk management 
standards for the following types of risks: credit risk, market 
risks, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. At 
the same time, the bank must be capable of managing all 
other material risks assumed in the scope of its operations.

The bank must regularly assess its risk-bearing capacity. 
Such assessment must be documented. The bank must also 
prepare a methodology for assessing its risk-bearing capaci-
ty and clarify the assumptions on which the methodology is 
based. The methodology shall be a recurring process based 
on the policies adopted by the bank for each type of risk. 
Further, the bank must prepare a methodology for measuring 
and assessing its risk exposure, which shall be based on 
risk identification and assessment that takes into account the 
scope and complexity of its operations. The bank’s risk expo-
sure shall be assessed in qualitative and quantitative terms. 
Monitoring of the bank’s risk assumptions and assessment 

of its risk-bearing capacity shall be organised independently 
from the organisational units of the bank that assume such 
risks. The bank shall verify the appropriateness of the metho-
dology for assessing its risk-bearing capacity at least once 
a year and at every significant change in its risk exposure.

The below sections deal with the bank’s exposure to credit 
risk, liquidity risk, markets risks and operational risk, and the 
manner in which the bank manages such risks.

3.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as potential losses due to debtors’ ina-
bility to meet their financial or contractual obligations in full.

Credit risk is associated with the bank activities that result 
in:

• risky balance sheet assets (due and undue loans re-
gardless of maturity, investments in securities and 
long-term equity investments, discounted drafts, ac-
counts receivable under finance leases, accounts re-
ceivable from derivatives, interest/fees/commissions 
accrued, accounts receivable from guarantees, sure-
ties and other liabilities assumed, bank deposits and 
other items measured at amortised cost/cost/fair value 
that can be allocated to individual debtors);

• risky off-balance sheet assets (financial guarantees/
sureties/unsecured letters of credit issued and other 
similar-risk transactions that could result in a bank’s 
payment obligation).

As regards credit risk, the bank uses the standardised 
approach to calculating the capital requirement for credit 
risk. In case of collateralised transactions, it uses the com-
prehensive approach.

In accordance with its guidelines for the organisation of its 
credit function, execution of loan transactions and credit 
risk management, as well as with its internal organisational 
rules, the bank ensures a clear separation of competences 
between the commercial unit and credit risk management 
unit on the one hand and between the commercial unit and 
back office on the other hand, also at managerial level.
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Said guidelines applying to credit risk management, as well 
as the rules of procedure applying to the credit committee, 
lay down a clear and consistent decision-making structure 
for the loan approval procedure. The term credit (or loan) 
covers all transactions bearing credit risk.

Any loan approval decision must be agreed between the 
commercial unit and the credit risk management unit, ta-
king into account the complexity and risk of the transaction. 
Impairment- and allowance-related decisions are not within 
the competence of the commercial unit.

The bank regularly reviews its credit portfolio and also esti-
mates future trends. The results of such reviews serve the 
bank when preparing and assessing strategies and policies 
for assuming and managing risks.

Close loan monitoring and bad loan handling
The bank uses a set of criteria when deciding whether a 
debtor/exposure requires close monitoring. Debtors/expo-
sures requiring close monitoring are regularly reviewed 
to decide their future treatment. If they meet certain crite-
ria, they are handed over to the bad loan collection unit. 
Otherwise, the bank may also decide to restructure the 
exposure: a restructuring plan is then prepared, implemen-
ted and monitored. If a bankruptcy procedure is initiated 
against a debtor, the bank involves its own experts and/
or external experts in the collateral recovery process, if the 
exposure is collateralised.

Early identification of upward changes in credit 
risk
The bank has a process in place for early identification of 
upward changes in credit risk associated with individual 
debtors. In this process, it uses qualitative and quantitative 
indicators.

Debtor/exposure rating process
For the purpose of credit risk assessment, the bank uses a 
debtor/exposure rating process. Within said process, deb-
tors/exposures are classified into credit rating classes and/
or groups. The bank regularly monitors and assesses its 
rating process, as well as impairment- and provision-rela-
ted decisions, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The bank classifies its debtors based 
on the assessment and valuation of their ability to meet 
their obligations to the bank, as well as based on collateral 
provided.

When classifying its debtors into rating groups, the bank 
uses its policy for assessing credit risk losses, which is in 
accordance with the central bank’s “Regulation on the as-
sessment of credit risk losses of banks and savings banks”, 
as well as with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
Non-performing loans are loans to clients who have defaul-
ted on their payments (payments delayed by more than 90 
days, restructuring, compulsory settlement or bankruptcy 
etc.)

The bank assesses individually significant financial assets 
or commitments including off-balance sheet items, as spe-
cified by the central bank and its internal policies. If such 
assessment reveals that a loss could arise from such si-
gnificant financial assets or commitments including off-ba-
lance sheet items, the bank must recognise an impairment 
loss both in its statement of financial position and its inco-
me statement. If individual impairment or provisioning is not 
required, the bank then calculates a collective impairment 
loss or provision using a certain prescribed percentage.

Concentration risk identification and 
measurement
The bank has appropriate methodologies in place for iden-
tifying and measuring concentration risk.
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Loans and advances 
to non-banks

Loans and 
advances to 

banks
Securities         Total

  31 Dec 
2014

 31 Dec 
2013

 31 Dec 
2014

 31 Dec 
2013

 31 Dec 
2014

 31 Dec 
2013

 31 Dec 
2014

 31 Dec 
2013

1 Loans and advances: impaired

a) Individually impaired:

   Gross amount 190,853 135,748     190,853 135,748

   Impairment amount 34,002 20,279     34,002 20,279

   Net amount 156,851 115,469     156,851 115,469

b) Collectively impaired:       0 0 

   Grade C 3,716 2,508     3,716 2,508

   Grade D 2,204 1,249     2,204 1,249

   Grade E 14,062 13,341     14,062 13,341

   Gross amount 19,982 17,098     19,982 17,098

   Impairment amount 11,703 11,657     11,703 11,657

   Net amount 8,279 5,441     8,279 5,441

2 Loans and advances: past due, not impaired 0 0

a) Total loans and advances past due:

  Gross amount 16,386 925     16,386 925

  Net amount 15,867 925     15,867 925

b) Loans and advances by days past due:

  31-60 days 7,802 87     7,802 87

  61-90 days 8,121 78     8,121 78

  91-180 days 162 198     162 198

  181+ days 301 562     301 562

3 Loans and advances: not past due, not impaired 

  Gross amount 1,112,227 1,007,730 108,548 2,387 134,856 162,029 1,355,631 1,172,146

  Grade A 1,048,117 957,344 108,548 2,387 134,856 162,029 1,291,521 1,121,760

  Grade B 64,110 50,387 64,110 50,387

  Collective impairment amount  5,400 7,895 5,400 7,895

  Net amount 1,106,827 999,836 108,548 2,387 134,856 162,029 1,350,231 1,164,252

Total gross amount of 
loans and advances 1,339,448 1,161,501 108,548 2,387 134,856 162,029 1,582,852 1,325,917

Total net amount of loans 
and advances 1,287,824 1,121,671 108,548 2,387 134,856 162,029 1,531,228 1,286,087

Exposure to credit risk as of December 31
thousand EUR

Source: »RAZ 1« as of December 31, 2014, and DPD according to Bank of Slovenia.
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Loans and advances by collateral submitted as of December 31

Colleteral type
    Loans and advances to non-banks       Loans and advances to banks

 31 Dec  2014  31 Dec  2013  31 Dec  2014  31 Dec  2013
Individual impairment 139,618 109,901 0 0

Property 75,504 100,795 0 0

First-class collateral 210 1,253 0 0

Shares 2,478 2,879 0 0

Other 61,426 4,973 0 0

Collective impairment 7,391 4,478 0 0

Property 4,324 4,079 0 0

First-class collateral 1 0 0 0

Shares 0 0 0 0

Other 3,066 398 0 0

Past due, not impaired 15,743 734 0 0

Property 9,830 722 0 0

First-class collateral 0 0 0 0

Shares 0 0 0 0

Other 5,913 12 0 0

Not past due, not impaired 930,316 794,238 0 0

Property 499,493 569,507 0 0

First-class collateral 33,272 78,990 0 0

Shares 11,542 11,710 0 0

Other 386,009 134,030 0 0

Without collateral 194,756 212,321 108,548 2,387

Without collateral, not past due 176,635 192,174 108,548 2,387

Without collateral, past due 18,121 20,147 0 0

   Individual impairment 17,233 15,179 0 0

   Collective impairment 888 4,968 0 0

TOTAL 1,287,824 1,121,671 108,548 2,387

thousand EUR
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Credit risk by sector and geographic area as of December 31
thousand EUR

            Loans and advances to non-banks               Loans and advances to banks

  31 Dec  2014  31 Dec  2013  31 Dec  2014  31 Dec  2013

TOTAL 1,287,824 1,121,671 108,548 2,387

    

SECTOR     

Companies 982,640 898,193 0 0

Public sector 3,118 3,608 0 0

Banks 0 0 108,548 2,387

Households 302,066 219,870 0 0

    

GEOGRAPHIC AREA     

Slovenia 1,232,766 1,087,500 66,122 0

Austria 2,032 115 1,990 687

CEE 51,864 33,095 26,393 1,085

Other 1,162 961 14,043 615

 Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments
  31 Dec  2014  31 Dec  2013
TOTAL 134,856 162,028

  
SECTOR   
Companies 4,032 5,039
State 76,678 93,883
Banks 54,145 63,106

GEOGRAPHIC AREA  
Slovenia 81,785 45,044
Austria 3,046 36,192
CEE 50,025 50,025
Other 0 30,767

thousand EUR
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3.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as potential losses due to the bank’s 
inability to meet its obligations or the ability to meet them 
only by incurring significantly higher costs than the usual 
costs. Liquidity risk includes also the situation when the 
bank cannot sell or substitute a position within a short time. 
Liquidity is the bank’s ability to sustain a decrease in depo-
sits, meet its obligations and increase financial assets.

Liquidity risk is closely connected with other bank risks 
(such as credit, interest rate and currency risks), and usu-
ally arises from one of the bank’s most important functions, 
i.e. the transformation of short-term deposits into long-term 
financial assets. Liquidity is an important component of ban-
king operations, as it balances the expected and unexpec-
ted balance sheet fluctuations, as well as ensures growth.

The bank must at all times ensure adequate liquidity by 
matching its actual and potential sources of liquidity with its 
actual and potential usage of liquidity. Taking into account 
its specifics and level of risk assumed, the bank identifies, 
measures, manages and monitors liquidity risk, thus ensu-
ring ongoing and timely settlement of its liabilities. Due to 
its specifics, the bank strives to meet relatively high liquidity 
ratios, whereby it uses the credit lines made available by 
the banking group, and builds up liquidity buffers to over-
come stress situations. Liquidity buffers represent available 
liquidity without any additional measures being required.

The bank’s guidelines applying to liquidity risk management 
comprise also measures aimed at preventing or elimina-
ting causes for illiquidity. The bank regularly reviews the 
correctness and appropriateness of assumptions on which 
its liquidity management policy is based. The bank uses 
several liquidity management scenarios for the purpose of 
monitoring liquidity risk and ensuring an adequate liquidity 
position. Based on such scenarios, the bank determines 
measures to be adopted for the purpose of ensuring an 
adequate liquidity position in the normal course of business 
(basic scenario), as well as in emergency liquidity situati-
ons (stress scenario). The bank regularly reviews the cor-
rectness of assumptions on which its liquidity management 
scenarios are based.

To ensure an adequate liquidity position, the bank identifi-
es, measures, manages and monitors liquidity risk by me-
ans of:

• planning of actual and potential cash inflows in view of 
cash outflows, and assessing the liquidity risk by cal-
culating the liquidity ratio and liquidity buffers to cover 
overdue liabilities in the normal course of business and 
in emergency liquidity situations;

• ensuring an amount of liquid assets or other sources of 
liquidity that are appropriate in view of the liquidity risk;

• monitoring the appropriateness of the structure of as-
sets and their sources;

• assessing liquidity risk in specific currencies, if this re-
presents a significant exposure;

• calculating liquidity ratios and defining limits for liquidi-
ty risk exposure;

• calculating liquidity buffers to cover overdue liabilities 
in the normal course of business and in emergency 
liquidity situations, as well as defining limits for liquidity 
risk exposure;

• adopting a plan to be used during a possible liquidity 
crisis.

The bank prepared a crisis plan, which is being regular-
ly tested and comprises measures aimed at preventing or 
eliminating causes for liquidity crises, measures aimed at 
overcoming and limiting the consequences of occasional 
or prolonged liquidity crises, as well as measures aimed at 
re-establishing a normal liquidity situation.

The bank calculates its liquidity ratios in accordance with 
the central bank’s “Regulation on the minimum require-
ments for ensuring an adequate liquidity position”. In accor-
dance with point 2 of the Regulation, the bank calculates 
the liquidity ratio, which is defined as the ratio of total assets 
(in local and foreign currencies) to total liabilities (in local 
and foreign currencies), for two categories of financial as-
sets and liabilities: those with a residual maturity of up to 30 
days (category one), and those with a residual maturity of 
up to 180 days (category two). The bank calculates both ra-
tios on a daily basis for the previous business day. Catego-
ry one ratio must be at least 1, while the category two ratio 
has an informative nature only. The bank complied with the 
category one liquidity ratio requirements in 2013. 

On 1 April 2014, the bank started reporting in accordan-
ce with the requirements regarding liquidity flow planning. 
These relate to a more detailed daily liquidity forecasts for 
two months in advance.
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Liquidity ratios for 2014, 2013 and 2012
 2014 2013 2012

31 December 1.42 1.37 1.56

Average for the period 1.30 1.25 1.84

Maximum value 1.55 1.72 2.79

Minimum value 1.13 1.01 1.15

The decreasing trend of liquidity ratio stopped in 2014 
thanks to an internal limit (set at 1.20), as well as to an 
increase in deposits with a maturity of less than 30 days 
and an increase in loans with a maturity of over 30 days. In 
2015, the share of short-term sources stabilised compared 
to the share of long-term sources and stopped increasing. 
In 2015, we will focus on decreasing source concentration 
both by client and maturity.

In 2015, we expect the liquidity ratio to be between 1.20 and 
1.30 on average. This is also the level where it is expected 
to stabilise in the next couple of years.

The bank also calculates liquidity buffers required to cover 
overdue liabilities in the normal course of business and in 
emergency liquidity situations, in accordance with the cen-
tral bank’s “Regulation on the calculation of capital require-
ments for credit risk under the internal ratings-based appro-
ach” and the Committee of European Banking Supervisors’ 
guidelines. Cash-flows are expected based on agreed, 
planned and expected business events. Liquidity shortfalls 
are compared with liquidity buffers in different time horizons 
(within one year) in the normal course of business (basic 
scenario) and in emergency liquidity situations (stress sce-
nario).

Maturity of undiscounted cash flows
thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
amount

On 
demand

Up to  
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Up to  
5 years

Over 
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 549,380 572,623 14,257 39,728 77,831 409,905 30,902

Amounts owed to non-banks 1,001,800 1,005,567 410,654 284,215 257,357 51,668 1,673

Subordinated liabilities 60,900 80,133 0 635 1,906 21,577 56,016

Derivatives (credit/debit) 5,285 5,285 0 0 0 820 4,464

Unused credit lines 245,314 245,314 245,314 0 0 0 0

31 December 2014
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thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
amount

On 
demand

Up to  
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Up to  
5 years

Over 
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 526,231 549,043 10,062 126,671 62,637 330,713 18,960

Amounts owed to non-banks 767,857 770,414 279,858 245,603 204,483 39,180 1,291

Subordinated liabilities 60,919 84,047 148 673 2,019 13,463 67,743

Derivatives (credit/debit) 2,398 2,398 0 0 0 820 1,577

Unused credit lines 108,870 108,870 108,870 0 0 0 0

31 December 2013

Financial position structure by maturity
31 December 2014

On 
demand

Up to  
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Total up 
to 12 

months

Up to  
5 years

Over 
5 years

Total over 
1 year TOTAL

Cash and cash balances 
with central bank 224,556 0 0 224,556 0 0 0 224,556

Loans to and receivables 
from banks 21,780 56,873 20,009 98,663 6,005 3,880 9,885 108,548

Loans to and receivables 
from non-banks 100,043 91,363 204,255 395,661 531,471 360,692 892,163 1,287,824

Available-for-sale 
financial assets 0 77,778 0 77,778 50,024 0 50,024 127,801

Held-to maturity 
investments 0 0 0 0 4,018 3,036 7,054 7,054

Other assets 55 877 5,271 6,203 17,274 0 17,274 23,477

Total assets 346,434 226,890 229,536 802,860 608,792 367,608 976,400 1,779,260

Deposits and loans from 
banks 12,808 39,895 74,131 126,834 393,933 28,613 422,546 549,380

Deposits and loans from 
non-bank customers 410,749 284,209 255,642 950,599 49,672 1,529 51,201 1,001,800

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 60,900 60,900 60,900

Other liabilities 1,370 5,631 13,212 20,213 101 0 101 20,314

Equity 0 0 0 0 0 146,866 146,866 146,866

Total liabilities 424,927 329,734 342,985 1,097,646 443,706 237,908 681,614 1,779,260

thousand EUR

A significant proportion of the liabilities falls due within a 
one-year period, referring in majority to demand deposits. 
The Bank monitors the stability of demand deposits and 

has a liquidity source available in case of an unexpected 
drop in these deposits.
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31 December 2013

On 
demand

Up to  
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Total up 
to 12 

months

Up to  
5 years

Over 
5 years

Total over 
1 year TOTAL

Cash and cash balances 
with central banks 175,550 0 0 175,550 0 0 0 175,550

Loans to and receivables 
from banks 2,313 1,220 0 3,533 0 300 300 3,833

Loans to and receivables 
from non-banks customers 67,837 74,288 206,928 349,054 453,721 318,896 772,617 1,121,671

Available-for-sale financial 
assets 0 153,970 0 153,970 0 0 0 153,970

Held-to maturity 
investments 0 0 1,007 1,007 4,008 3,044 7,053 8,059

Other assets 0 1,723 104 1,827 12,259 1,206 13,465 15,291

Total assets 245,700 231,201 208,039 684,940 469,988 323,446 793,435 1,478,374

Deposits and loans from 
banks 10,062 125,374 59,404 194,839 314,825 16,566 331,391 526,231

Deposits and loans from 
non-banks customers 278,511 248,508 202,158 729,177 37,513 1,167 38,680 767,857

Subordinated liabilities 0 169 0 169 0 60,750 60,750 60,919

Other liabilities 0 1,896 55 1,951 831 1,885 2,716 4,668

Equity 0 0 0 0 0 118,700 118,700 118,700

Total liabilities 288,573 375,947 261,617 926,137 353,169 199,068 552,237 1,478,374

thousand EUR
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3.3 Market risks
Market risk is defined as potential losses due to unfavo-
urable changes in market variables (price, interest rate, 
exchange rate). Market risk comprises:
• position risk, which is defined as potential losses due 

to changes in prices of debt instruments, equity instru-
ments, derivative financial instruments or commodities. 
The level of position risk depends on price volatility of 
financial instruments, as well as on the bank’s portfolio 
of financial instruments – its structure and liquidity;

• interest rate risk, which is defined as potential losses 
due to unfavourable interest rate movements. Interest 
rate movements have a significant effect on the bank’s 
income and expenses;

• currency risk, which is defined as potential losses due 
to unfavourable exchange rate movements. The level 
of currency risk depends on the open foreign currency 
position, exchange rate volatility and foreign exchange 
market liquidity.

In accordance with the parent bank’s rules and the Capital 
Requirements Regulation, the bank is a non-trading bank 
or a bank with a trading book position that normally does 
not exceed 5% of total assets and EUR 15 million and ne-
ver exceeds 6% of total assets and EUR 20 million.

The main objective of the bank is to ensure close currency 
matching of on- and off-balance sheet items on the assets and 
liabilities sides while consistently keeping within the prescri-
bed maximum net open foreign currency position in all curren-
cies and in each currency. 

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest risk 
management is to have a low interest rate risk exposure.

The bank clearly separates the trading unit and back office, 
both in operational and organisational terms, also at mana-
gerial level. Operational separation of the trading unit from 
its back office requires the bank to have appropriate safety 
and work processes and IT system access rules in place, 
as well as to have the two units physically separated.

3.3.1 Currency risk

Sberbank banka d.d. monitors its currency risk in accor-
dance with the requirements of its parent bank, trying to 

optimise the balance sheet structure within the prescribed 
limits. The main objective of the bank is to ensure close 
currency matching of on- and off-balance sheet items on 
the assets and liabilities sides while consistently complying 
with the maximum net open foreign currency position in all 
currencies and in each currency. 

Following a proposal by its asset/liability management com-
mittee and with the agreement of the Group, the bank may 
decide to have a strategic open foreign currency position 
outside the normal limits.

The bank’s currency risk mainly arises from:
• prompt closing of only major client transactions or client 

transactions that would cause the bank to exceed the 
maximum net open foreign currency position, as closing 
of smaller client transactions on a transaction-by-tran-
saction basis would be cost-inefficient in all circumstan-
ces except for those of high exchange rate volatility;

• bank’s own position, i.e. its own account trading;
• transactions with a foreign exchange (mainly CHF) 

indexation clause, the prompt closing of which is not 
possible due to limited liquidity.

In accordance with the Capital Requirements Regulation, 
the bank treats assets/liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency and those with a foreign exchange indexation cla-
use equally, i.e. as foreign currency-denominated. To cal-
culate the net open position by currency, the bank sums 
separately all long positions in a currency and all short posi-
tions in a currency. The higher of the two totals is the bank’s 
net open position in that currency and thus also the basis 
for the calculation of capital requirements for currency risk. 
Currency risk (net open foreign currency position) is moni-
tored by the Financial Markets area, while the Risk Mana-
gement department (Market and Operational Risks) reports 
on such risks. Risk is monitored based on real-time data, 
while reports are made based on bookkeeping values.

In managing currency risk, the bank takes into account the 
limits prescribed by the parent bank. The central bank limits 
currency risk only indirectly, namely with capital requirements 
for currency risk. The bank itself may at any time adopt even 
stricter limits. Under its current methodology, the total net open 
foreign currency position is defined as the higher of the totals 
of its (a) long and (b) short positions, whereby the bank treats 
in the same manner assets/liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency and those with a foreign exchange indexation clause.
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Financial position structure by foreign exchange risk thousand EUR

 31 Dec  2014  31 Dec  2013

ASSETS 1,779,260 1,478,374

 - EUR 1,701,403 1,404,772

 - EUR with foreign currency indexation clause 28,020 28,507

 - foreign currencies 49,838 45,096

LIABILITIES 1,779,260 1,478,374

 - EUR 1,646,404 1,343,876

 - EUR with foreign currency indexation clause 0 0

 - foreign currencies 132,856 134,498

3.3.2 Interest rate risk
The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest rate 
risk management is to have a low interest rate risk exposu-
re. This strategy is reflected in the bank’s decision-making 
and monitoring systems in the field of interest rate risk.

To assess interest rate risk, the bank assesses the following 
sources of this risk:

• the risk arising from maturity mismatch of the bank’s 
assets and liabilities that are interest rate-sensitive (re-
-pricing risk);

• the risk of changes in the slope and shape of the yield 
curve, which can affect the bank’s income or the under-
lying economic value (yield curve risk);

• the risk arising from the imperfect correlation betwe-

en interest rates applying to different instruments with 
otherwise similar re-pricing characteristics (basis risk);

• the risk arising from the options embedded in many of 
the bank’s assets and liabilities that are interest rate-
-sensitive. Formally, an option provides the holder the 
right, but not the obligation, to buy, sell, or repay/wit-
hdraw early such interest rate-sensitive items.

The bank measures its interest rate exposure by estimating 
the changes in economic value of its capital. The calculati-
on is based on the interest rate gap report, on the estima-
ted impact on profit and on the estimated basis risk. This 
is done on a monthly basis, when a report for the asset/
liability management committee is prepared. This commit-
tee is responsible for controlling the interest rate risk and for 
making decisions about the level of interest rate risk assu-

Sensitivity analysis for currency risk
 2014 2013

End-of-year 920 597

Average for the period 641 542

Standard deviation for the period 216 176

Maximum for the period 1,175 1,200

Minimum for the period 237 188

Net open foreign currency position was between EUR 237 thousand and EUR 1,175 thousand, while on average it stood 
at EUR 641 thousand, with the standard deviation being  EUR 216 thousand.

thousand EUR
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Sensitivity analysis of capital
Increase by 100 bp Decrease by 100 bp

2014   

31 December 5,413 -5,413

Average for the period 2,113 -2,113

Maximum for the period 5,413 -5,413

Minimum for the period 235 -235

   

2013   

31 December 1,784 -1,784

Average for the period 4,604 -4,604

Maximum for the period 6,680 -6,680

Minimum for the period 1,299 -1,299

Sensitivity analysis of income statement
Increase by 100 bp Decrease by 100 bp

2014   

31 December 3,405 -3,405

Average for the period 1,365 -1,365

Maximum for the period 3,405 -3,405

Minimum for the period -592 592

   

2013   

31 December 2,973 -2,973

Average for the period 581 -581

Maximum for the period 2,973 -2,973

Minimum for the period -2,026 2,026

thousand EUR

thousand EUR

med. Interest rate risk exposure and measurement, as well 
as appropriate measures to be adopted if necessary, are 
laid down in the bank’s guidelines applying to interest rate 
risk management.

The asset/liability management committee is responsible 
for controlling the interest rate risk and for making decisions 
about the level of interest rate risk assumed. It approves the 
bank’s policy based mainly on variable-rate instruments, as 
well as decides on measures to be taken in the case of an 

excess exposure to the interest rate risk. The bank’s own 
limits applying to its interest rate exposure are determined 
together with the parent bank. Before launching a new pro-
duct, the bank also checks its effect on the interest rate risk.
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Exposure to interest rate risk
31 December 2014

Total At sight Up to  
3 months

Up to  
1 year

Up to  
5 years

Over  
5 years

Cash and balances with central bank 224,556 224,556 0 0 0 0

Loans to banks 108,548 44,110 38,423 20,009 6,005 0

Loans and advances to non-banks 1,287,824 10,331 702,104 509,601 43,258 22,530

Available-for-sale financial assets 127,801 0 127,801 0 0 0

Held-to-maturity financial assets 7,054 0 0 0 4,018 3,036

Loans and deposits from banks 549,380 12,808 159,347 179,159 168,019 30,047

Deposits from non-banks 1.001,800 412,233 283,137 257,181 48,779 471

Subordinated liabilities 60,900 919 0 0 0 60,900

GAP -146,044 425,844 93,271 -163,517 -65,851

thousand EUR

31 December 2013
thousand EUR

Total At sight Up to  
3 months

Up to  
1 year

Up to  
5 years

Over  
5 years

Cash and balances with central bank 175,550 175,550 0 0 0 0

Loans to banks 3,833 2,313 1,520 0 0 0

Loans and advances to non-banks 1,121,671 7,041 687,447 399,537 18,840 8,806

Available-for-sale financial assets 153,970 0 153,970 0 0 0

Held-to-maturity financial assets 8,059 0 0 1,007 4,008 3,044

Loans and deposits from banks 526,231 10,062 352,491 138,528 25,149 0

Deposits from non-banks 767,857 286,720 240,451 203,087 37,174 425

Subordinated liabilities 60,919 919 0 0 0 60,000

GAP -112,798 249,995 58,929 -39,476 -48,574
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3.4 Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as potential losses due to the 
following: 

• inappropriateness or incorrect implementation of the 
bank’s internal processes;

• other inappropriate acts of the bank’s employees;
• inappropriateness or incorrect functioning of the bank’s 

internal systems;
• external events or acts. 

Operational risk also includes:

• information technology risk, which is defined as poten-
tial losses due to inappropriate IT technology and pro-
cessing, mainly in terms of manageability, accesses, 
integration, control and continuity; 

• legal risk, which is defined as potential losses due to 
non-compliance with or improper application of laws, 
executive acts, instructions, recommendations, con-
tracts, good banking practice or ethical norms. 

The most important factors affecting the operational risk 
are:

• people: their culture, ethics, motivation, knowledge, 
skills, etc.;

• processes: their design, implementation, clarity, appro-
priateness, controls, objectives, communication;

• systems: their appropriateness, safety, availability, etc.;
• environment: any undesired or unexpected changes, 

crime, accidents, extraordinary events.

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of operational risk 
management is to minimise potential and actual operatio-
nal losses. The bank’s Management Board is expected to 
adopt an active approach to operational risk management, 
which includes raising awareness of such risk within the 
bank, promoting transparency, and evidencing of actual 
and potential losses.

As regards capital requirements for operational risk, the 
bank uses the standardised approach. 

Using the loss events database, the bank analyses the 
causes of actual material losses arising from operational 
risk. It also uses quarterly Risk & Control Self-Assessment, 
to identify and assess possible material operational risk. 
The bank monthly controls the Key Risk Indicators, which 
showed a low and acceptable level in 2014. The definition 
of the term “major losses arising from operational risk” is 
laid down in the guidelines applying to operational risk ma-
nagement.

Any major losses and exposures associated with operati-
onal risk are reported to the bank’s higher management, 
including the bank’s Management Board. The latter decides 
what additional measures, if any, should be taken to mana-
ge operational risk, deadlines and persons responsible. Im-
plementations of such measures is then monitored by the 
operational risk unit.

Losses arising from operational risk events in 2014 were 
EUR 67,706. After recoveries and other reductions, their 
net effect was EUR 59,983.

Implementation and documentation of internal controls is a 
part of operational risk management. This is done with the 
integrated BART tool used for operational risk identificati-
on, assessment, analysis, monitoring and reporting. Inter-
nal controls are defined in great detail by the responsible 
heads of divisions/services who receive automatic remin-
ders at specified intervals to check whether and how such 
internal controls are being carried out by their subordinates. 
There are 48 management controls covering all important 
bank processes. They are carried out periodically, as requi-
red. In 2014, they were performed 123 times (compared to 
124 times planned, this represents a 99.2% achievement 
of the plan).
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3.5 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

                 31 December 2014                  31 December 2013

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Loans and advances to banks 108,548 108,548 3,833 3,833

Loans and advances to non-banks 1,287,824 1,287,858 1,121,671 1,121,661

             Short-term  111,503 111,503 90,549 90,549

             Long-term 1,176,321 1,176,355 1,031,121 1,031,111

  

Available-for-sale financial assets 127,801 127,801 153,970 153,970

Held-to-maturity financial assets 7,054 7,418 8,059 8,021

  

Deposits from banks 247,549 247,549 162,219 162,219

Loans from banks 298,849 298,849 335,708 335,708

  

Deposits from non-banks 994,662 994,662 763,559 763,559

In 2014, the fair value of long-term loans was above their 
carrying amount. This is explained with the drop in market 
interest rates: e.g., the three-month Euribor was 0.23% at 
year-end 2013, and 0.08% at year-end 2014 (down by 0.15 
percentage points). Consequently, the fair value of long-
-term loans with a fixed interest rate increased and was 
above their carrying amount as at year-end 2014.

The fair value of financial assets held to maturity was esti-
mated based on the fair value of Level 1 (the market value 
of the bonds). All other financial assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position are not carried at fair value. 
The fair value is determined based on the fair value of Level 
2 (use of market indicators: interest rates).

thousand EUR
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Fair value hiearchy as at 31 december 2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and balances with central bank 224,556 224,556

Loans to banks 108,548 108,548

Loans to non-bank customers 1,287,824 1,287,824

Other financial assets 760 760

Held-to maturity investments 7,054 7,054

Avaliable-for-sale financial assets 127,801 127,801

Financial assets held for trading 5,288 5,288

Total assets 359,411 113,835 1,288,584 1,761,830

Deposits from banks and central banks 247,550 247,550

Deposits from non-bank customers 994,662 994,662

Loans from banks and central banks 298,849 298,849

Loans from non-bank customers 2,981 2,981

Debt instruments 11,915 11,915

Other financial liabilities 7,138 7,138

Financial liabilities held for trading 5,285 5,285

Total liabilities 1,568,380 1,568,380

In accordance with IFRS 7 and IFRS 13, the bank classified the fair value measurements in the following levels of fair value 
hierarchy:

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e., as prices on less active markets) or indirectly (i.e., derived from quoted prices and prices on less active markets); 

thousand EUR

thousand EUR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and balances with central bank 175,550 175,550

Loans to banks 3,833 3,833

Loans to non-bank customers 1,121,671 1,121,671

Other financial assets 1,102 1,102

Helt-to maturity investments 8,059 8,059

Avaliable-for-sale financial assets 153,970 153,970

Financial assets held for trading 2,232 2,232

Total assets 337,579 6,065 1,122,773 1,466,416

Deposits from banks and central banks 187,549 187,549

Deposits from non-bank customers 763,559 763,559

Loans from banks and central banks 335,708 335,708

Loans from non-bank customers 2,973 2,973

Debt instruments 0 0

Other financial liabilities 5,293 5,293

Financial liabilities held for trading 2,398 2,398

Total liabilities 1,297,481 1,297,481

Fair value hiearchy as at 31 december 2013
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3.6 Capital management
The bank must, in accordance with the central bank’s and 
EU regulations (CRR/CRD IV package), at all times ensure 
an adequate structure and amount of its capital in respect 
of the size and type of services it provides and in respect 
of risks to which it is exposed thereby. For this purpose, the 
bank has prepared internal monitoring processes to ensure 
that its capital complies with all statutory requirements (in 
terms of structure and amount). By regularly monitoring its 
capital amount, capital requirements and capital adequacy, 
the bank ensures the following:

• that its original own funds always amount to at least 
2/3 of its total capital, and that the subordinated loan 
capital included in additional own funds does not exce-
ed 50% of its original own funds (and that if it does, the 
excessive amount is not used to cover capital require-
ments);

• that its capital always at least equals the sum of capital 
requirements under the first pillar of Basel II (associa-
ted with credit, market and operational risks) and the 
second pillar of Basel II within the ICAAP process;

• that the ratio of regulatory capital to capital require-
ments under the first pillar always amounts to at least 
148.2% (with the capital adequacy ratio being 11.9%);

• that the capital adequacy ratio of internal capital (re-
gulatory capital + profit for the current year) to capital 
requirements under the second pillar always amounts 
to at least 8%;

• that the ratio of Tier 1 capital to capital requirements 
under the first pillar always amounts to at least 118,6% 
(with the capital adequacy ratio Tier 1 being 9,5%);

• that the structure of its operations is optimal in respect 
of the level of risk assumed and the profitability requi-
red;

• that its claims are secured by collateral that reduces 
the risk level and at the same time guarantees debt 
repayment within the shortest time possible.

The bank regularly reports to the regulator and to the pa-
rent bank (in accordance with the Group’s guidelines) on its 
compliance with the capital adequacy and capital require-
ments regulations. 

Once a year (upon preparation of the annual business 
plan), the bank also prepares a plan aimed at maintaining 
an adequate structure and amount of the capital in view of 
the size and type of services it provides and in respect of 
risks to which it is exposed thereby. This plan also allows 
the bank to obtain capital in the market when the conditions 
are most favourable.

Said plan aimed at maintaining an adequate amount of ca-
pital comprises:

• one-year-ahead projections of capital requirements 
and bank’s position, based on the relevant business 
plan;

• a projection of the largest scope of its operations ba-
sed on capital projection;

• the amount, quality and sources of additional capital, 
if needed;

• an assessment of availability of external sources of 
capital;

• an assessment of financial consequences of a possi-
ble increase in capital;

• the effects on capital of possible changes in the bank’s 
business, operational and financial position;

• an overview by maturity of debt and hybrid instruments 
acquired.

The factors that might affect the bank’s need for additional 
capital are the following:

• legislation/regulatory changes;
• an increase in the capital adequacy level by the central 

bank;
• an extraordinary/unplanned increase in provisions;

Level 3 – investments where fair value is determined on the basis of valuation models which take into account subjective 
variables which are not publicly available to the markets.

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 in 2014 and 2013.
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Capital adequacy as at 31 December
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
CORE CAPITAL (TIER I) 139,934 118,939
Subscribed capital 108,140 88,140
Capital reserves 27,248 27,248
Deductions from tier I:

Reserves and retained earnings 5,170 4,012
Intangible assets -624 -461
Revaluation reserves 0 0

ADDITIONAL CAPITAL (TIER II) 60,707 59,469
Hybrid instruments and cumulative preference shares 0 0
Subordinated loan 60,707 59,469

DEDUCTIONS FROM TIER I AND TIER II 0 0
Investments in other credit or financial institutions (exceeding 10% of their capital) 0 0

BANK’S OWN FUNDS (for solvency purposes) 200,641 178,408

RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS (on- and off-balance sheet items)
Capital requirement for credit risk (standardised approach) 97,388 83,528
Regional governments or local authorities 58 52
Public sector entities 165 369
Institutions 2,496 750
Corporates 55,817 48,381
Retail 11,058 12,913
Secured by real estate property 9,450 6,275
Past due items 15,386 8,482
Items belonging to regulatory high-risk categories 681 4,484
Covered bonds 800 800
Other items 1,477 1,022

Capital requirement for commodities risk 119 3,243
Capital requirement for operational risk (standardised approach) 3,778 3,243

Total capital requirement 101,285 86,771

Capital adequacy ratio (%): bank’s own funds / (total capital requirement / 0.08) 15.85 % 16.45 %

• an increase in the on- and off-balance sheet transac-
tions;

• an increase in capital requirements for operational risk;
• an increase in capital requirements for other risks 

(identified within the ICAAP process);

• an increase in the required financing of individual deb-
tors;

• changes in the structure of risks assumed by the bank;
• possible losses from operations; and
• changes in the dividend policy.
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4. Cash and balances with central bank
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013

EUR foreign 
currencies EUR foreign 

currencies
Cash on hand 2,782 823 2,718 960
Cash balances at central bank 188,968 0 171,005 0
Other demand deposits at banks 22,114 9,869 659 1,654
Total 213,864 10,692 174,382 2,614
Total (EUR and foreign currencies)             224,556              176,996

As of 13 December 2014, in accordance with the “Regulati-
on on the books of account and annual reports of banks and 
savings banks”, the layout of financial statements was made 
compliant with the Implementing Technical Standards on Su-
pervisory Reporting and FINREP. In the short layout of the sta-
tement of financial position, the item “Demand deposits with 
banks” shall be included under “Cash, cash balances with 

central bank and other demand deposits with banks. As at 
year-end 2014, other demand deposits with banks amounted 
EUR 31,983 thousand. Cash balances with central bank amo-
unted to EUR 188,968 thousand. 

The bank’s obligatory reserve requirement was on average 
EUR 8,787,386.58 in 2014 (2013: EUR 6,471,922.17).

5. Financial assets held for trading
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Exchange rate-related transactions 1,990 209
Interest rate-related transactions 3,266 1,988
Others 32 32
Financial assets held for trading 5,288 2,229

6. Available-for-sale financial assets – non-
    marketable and marketable

thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
 Equity securities: non-marketable 24 24
 Debt securities: marketable 127,777 153,946
TOTAL 127,801 153,970

As at year-end 2014, the bank had EUR 102,964,498.69of 
first-class securities and  EUR 77,100,000 loans with first-
-class insurance, placed with Banka Slovenije to secure 
payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s secondary 
liquidity. 

As at year-end 2013, the bank had EUR 123,540,695 of 
first-class securities and EUR 52,800,000 loans with first-
class insurance, placed with Banka Slovenije to secure 
payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s secondary 
liquidity. As at year-end 2013, the bank had EUR 23 million 
pledged to secure SEPA payment transactions.
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6.1 Shares and interests at cost – non-marketable
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Bankart, d. o. o., Ljubljana 11 11
SWIFT Belgium 3 3
Credit bureau SISBON, Ljubljana 10 10
TOTAL 24 24

6.2 Available-for-sale debt securities – marketable

thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Bonds issued by the Republic of Slovenia 76,678 30,978
Bonds issued by other EU governments 0 62,905
Bonds issued by local banks 1,077 10,037
Bonds issued by foreign banks 50,022 50,025

Total available-for-sale debt securities 127,778 153,946

Structure by issuer

Structure by listed-unlisted
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Listed 127,778 153,946
   Bondes 127,778 153,946
   Other 0 0
Total 127,778 153,946

Fair value measurement
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Cost 126,685 155,767
Interest (receivables, accruals) 321 1,413
Change in fair value 772 -3,234
Carrying amount 127,778 153,946
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7. Loans
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
- debt securities 0 0
- loans to banks 108,548 2,387
- loans to non-banks 1,287,824 1,121,671
- advances 760 1,102
TOTAL 1,397,131 1,125,160

7.1 Debt securities
In 2014, bank did not have debt securities which would classify as loans.

7.2 Loans to banks
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Short-term 102,528 867
EUR 102,528 867
Long-term 6,020 1,520
EUR 6,020 1,520
Total loans to banks 108,548 2,387

Structure by geographic area
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Slovenia 22,330 867
Other countries 86,218 1,520
TOTAL 108,548 2,387

Structure by maturity
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7.3 Loans to non-banks

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

EUR 121,222 1,176,206 96,053 1,019,449
 - non-financial companies 103,959 848,513 86,851 790,298
 - households 6,863 268,588 4,627 187,334
 - non-residents 3,477 52,228 2,634 31,892
 - other financial organisations 6,387 2,040 1,042 5,066
 - the state 50 2,754 235 2,977
 - non-profit service providers 486 2,084 665 1,882
Foreign currencies 257 43,436 224 45,774
 - households 50 29,661 49 31,286
 - non-financial companies 208 13,418 175 14,069
 - the state 0 357 0 419
Allowances -9,627 -43,670 -5,728 -34,101
Total 111,853 1,175,971 90,549 1,031,121
Total loans to non-banks                      1,287,824                        1,121,671

Structure by client

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013

Non-financial companies 966,097 891,394

The state 3,160 3,631

Other financial organisations 8,427 6,107

Households 305,162 223,296

Non-profit service providers 2,570 2,546

Non-residents 55,705 34,526

Allowances -53,297 -39,830

Total 1,287,824 1,121,671

Structure by sector
thousand EUR

thousand EUR
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First-class collateral

thousand EUR

First-class collateral as at year-end 2014 by loan risk grade:

A B C D E P Total

Bank deposits 17,819 1,466 9 9 0 0 19,303

Guarantees from the government 74,413 66 0 0 0 586 75,065

Guarantees from first-class foreign banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Securities from first-class banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 92,232 1,532 9 0 586 94,368

First-class collateral as at year-end 2013 by loan risk grade:

thousand EUR

Eligible collateral – mortgage

As at 31 December 2014, the bank had EUR 795,083 tho-
usand of loans insured by means of mortgages in its gross 
loan portfolio.

As at 31 December 2013, the bank had EUR 748,153 tho-
usand of loans insured by means of mortgages in its gross 
loan portfolio.

A B C D E P Total

Bank deposits 14,884 1,508 9 0 0 230 16,631

Guarantees from the government 70,338 75 0 0 0 1,086 71,499

Guarantees from first-class foreign banks 0 580 0 0 0 0 580

Securities from first-class banks 189 0 0 0 0 0 189

Total 85,411 2,163 9 0 0 1,316 88,899



75SBERBANK Si  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014

Impairment allowances by type of receivable / loan

thousand EUR
Movements in impairment allowances in 2014:

Loans to non-banks Loans to banks Others Total

1 January 39,830 0 130 39,960

Share of total loans and advances (%) 3.55 0 11.81  

Formed 26,962 0 115 27,077

Released -13,495 0 0 -13,495

31 December 53,297 0 245 53,543

Share of total loans and advances (%) 4.14 0 32.30  

thousand EUR
Movements in impairment allowances in 2013:

Loans to non-banks Loans to banks Others Total

1 January 28,356 0 42 28,398

Share of total loans and advances (%) 2.95 0 0.86  

Formed 16,655 0 88 16,743

Released -5,181 0 0 -5,181

31 December 39,830 0 130 39,960

Share of total loans and advances (%) 3.55 0 11.81  

7.4 Other financial assets
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
 Trade receivables 98 50
 Other business support activities receivables 616 1,002
 Other financial assets 46 50
 Total 760 1,102
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8. Held-to-maturity debt securities

thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
In EUR 7,054 8,059
   Bonds ÖVAG 3,046 3,044
   Other bonds 4,008 5,015
Total 7,054 8,059

Structure by currency

thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Listed 7,054 8,059
   Bonds ÖVAG 3,046 3,044
   Other bonds 4,008 5,015
Total 7,054 8,059

As at year-end 2014, the bank did not have held-to-maturity debt securities pledged as collateral. 

Structure by listed-unlisted
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9. Property, plant and equipment, 
    investment property and intangible assets
Movements in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets in 2014

In 2014, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible 
assets (with a cost of EUR 1,339 thousand). At year-end 

2014, the bank did not have property, plant and equipment 
assets pledged as collateral.

Invest-
ment

property

Total 
Invest-

ment
property

Land 
and 

build-
ings

Equip-
ment

Assets
under 

con-
struc-

tion

Total 
Tangible

assets

Intan-
gible

assets

Intan-
gible

assets in 
prepara-

tion

Total In-
tangible

assets
Grand 

Total
Initial cost
Balance 
1 January 2014 33 33 7,231 7,089 766 15,086 1,971 189 2,160 17,279

Additions 5,028 5,028 437 1,950 1,746 4,133 446 322 768 9,929

Disposals 0 0 0 -493 -2,423 -2,916 0 -409 -409 -3,325

Balance 
31 December 2014 5,061 5,061 7,668 8,546 89 16,303 2,417 102 2,519 23,883

 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance 
1 January 2014 0 0 1,807 4,518 0 6,325 1,699 0 1,699 8,024

Accumulated 
Depreciation 0 0 156 722 0 887 196 0 196 1,083

Sales 0 0 0 8 0 8 0 0 0 8

Disposals 0 0 0 -493 0 -493 0 0 0 -493

Balance 
31 December 2014 0 0 1,972 4,755 0 6,727 1,895 0 1,895 8,622

Carrying amount

31 December 2013 33 33 5,424 2,571 766 8,761 272 189 461 9,255

31 December 2014 5,061 5,061 5,696 3,791 89 9,576 522 102 624 15,261

thousand EUR
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Movements in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets in 2013

In 2013, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible 
assets (with a cost of EUR 1,451 thousand). At year-end 

2013, the bank did not have property, plant and equipment 
assets pledged as collateral.

thousand EUR

Invest-
ment

property

Total 
Invest-

ment
property

Land 
and 

build-
ings

Equip-
ment

Assets
under 

con-
struc-

tion

Total 
Tangible

assets

Intan-
gible

assets

Intan-
gible

assets in 
prepara-

tion

Total In-
tangible

assets
Grand 

Total
Initial cost
Balance 
1 January 2013 0 0 6,795 6,172 35 13,002 1,868 35 1,903 14,905

Additions 33 33 436 1,154 2,321 3,911 103 257 360 4,304

Disposals 0 0 0 -237 -1,590 -1,827 0 -103 -103 -1,930

Balance 
31 December 2013 33 33 7,231 7,089 766 15,086 1,971 189 2,160 17,279

 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance 
1 January 2013 0 0 1,651 4,214 0 5,865 1,561 0 1,561 7,426

Accumulated 
Depreciation 0 0 156 523 0 679 138 0 138 817

Sales 0 0 0 18 0 18 0 0 0 18

Disposals 0 0 0 -237 0 -237 0 0 0 -237

Balance 
31 December 2013 0 0 1,807 4,518 0 6,325 1,699 0 1,699 8,024

Carrying amount

31 December 2012 0 0 5,144 1,958 35 7,137 307 35 342 7,479

31 December 2013 33 33 5,424 2,571 766 8,761 272 189 461 9,255
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10. Long-term investments in subsidiaries

Long-term investment in Group members as at 31 December 2014

Investment 
amount

Participation 
percentage

Voting rights 
percentage

Subscribed 
capital

Profit 
for the year

Privatinvest, d. o. o., Ljubljana 1,614 100 100 2,296 -245
Total 1,614

thousand EUR

Long-term investment in Group members as at 31 December 2013

Investment 
amount

Participation 
percentage

Voting rights 
percentage

Subscribed 
capital

Profit 
for the year

Privatinvest, d. o. o., Ljubljana 1,614 100 100 2,296 -51
Total 1,614

thousand EUR

As at year-end 2014, the subsidiary’s balance sheet total 
was EUR 6,976,114.40 (2013: EUR 6,543,738.71). The main 
activity of Privatinvest is acting as real estate agency / inter-
mediary (activity code 68.310).

Due to its insignificance for the financial position of the Sber-
bank banka Group (subsidiary’s balance sheet total repre-
senting only 0.39% of the bank’s balance sheet total), Privat-
invest was excluded from consolidation in accordance with 
Article 56 of Companies Act.

Article 7(5) of the “Regulation on the supervision of banks 
on a consolidated basis” allows that a subsidiary is excluded 
from consolidation, provided its balance sheet total does not 
exceed 1% of the bank’s balance sheet total or EUR 10 mil-
lion in absolute terms. Sberbank banka d.d. informed Banka 
Slovenije of exclusion of Privatinvest from consolidation.

The bank meets the IAS 27 criteria regarding the exception 
from consolidation.

Invest-
ment

property

Total 
Invest-

ment
property

Land 
and 

build-
ings

Equip-
ment

Assets
under 

con-
struc-

tion

Total 
Tangible

assets

Intan-
gible

assets

Intan-
gible

assets in 
prepara-

tion

Total In-
tangible

assets
Grand 

Total
Initial cost
Balance 
1 January 2013 0 0 6,795 6,172 35 13,002 1,868 35 1,903 14,905

Additions 33 33 436 1,154 2,321 3,911 103 257 360 4,304

Disposals 0 0 0 -237 -1,590 -1,827 0 -103 -103 -1,930

Balance 
31 December 2013 33 33 7,231 7,089 766 15,086 1,971 189 2,160 17,279

 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance 
1 January 2013 0 0 1,651 4,214 0 5,865 1,561 0 1,561 7,426

Accumulated 
Depreciation 0 0 156 523 0 679 138 0 138 817

Sales 0 0 0 18 0 18 0 0 0 18

Disposals 0 0 0 -237 0 -237 0 0 0 -237

Balance 
31 December 2013 0 0 1,807 4,518 0 6,325 1,699 0 1,699 8,024

Carrying amount

31 December 2012 0 0 5,144 1,958 35 7,137 307 35 342 7,479

31 December 2013 33 33 5,424 2,571 766 8,761 272 189 461 9,255
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11. Tax assets
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013

Tax assets 176 641

Current tax assets 36 13

Deferred tax assets 140 628

Current tax assets represent excess advance payments of 
corporate income tax.

Deferred tax assets arise from non-deductible provisions 
for employee benefits, and negative valuation of available-

for-sale securities. Compared to 2013 they increased main-
ly due to a lower valuation of available-for-sale securities. 
When calculating the 2014 and 2013 deferred tax assets, 
the bank used the tax rate of 17%.

Movements in deferred taxes in 2014 and 2013

Opening balance
Through 

profit or loss

Through 
comprehensive 

income Closing balance
31 Dec 2014 628 5 -651 -18

31 Dec 2013 215 23 390 628

thousand EUR

Deferred taxes are shown net, as the difference between 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities.

Deferred taxes from security valuation
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Net deferred taxes -158 550

Valuation to fair value 930 -3,234

Revaluation reserve 772 -2,684

Deferred taxes – shown as changes in comprehensive income -708 390
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12. Other assets
thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013

 Receivables for advances 177 6

 Inventories 78 75

 Receivables for taxes, contributions and other duties 266

 Capitalised deferred expenses and accrued income 19 101

Total 105 448

13. Financial liabilities from derivatives 
      (held for trading)

thousand EUR

             31 Dec 2014              31 Dec 2013
Exchange rate-related derivatives 1,989 414
Interest rate-related derivatives 3,265 1,955
Commodity options 32 29
Financial liabilities held for trading 5,287 2,398

14. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

14.1 Deposits from banks and central banks

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
Demand deposits 12,808 10,062
  - EUR 12,788 10,026
  - Foreign currencies 20 36
Deposits with agreed maturity 41,355 152,157
Short-term 41,355 152,157
  - EUR 39,907 147,127
  - Foreign currencies 1,449 5,030
Long-term 193,386 25,330
  - EUR 193,386 25,330
Total 247,549 187,549

Structure by type, currency and maturity
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14.2 Deposits from non-banks

thousand EUR

Structure by type, currency and maturity

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

 
EUR

Foreign 
currency Total EUR

Foreign 
currency Total

Demand deposits 399,279 7,032 406,311 272,502 6,009 278,511
   Companies 223,915 1,406 225,321 153,803 1,609 155,412
   Households 163,988 2,800 166,788 113,295 2,504 115,799
   Non-profitable service providers 2,672 350 3,021 1,325 1,295 2,620
   Other financial institutions 765 0 765 759 0 759
   Non-residents 7,939 2,476 10,416 3,320 601 3,921
Deposits with agreed maturity 584,558 3,793 588,351 480,018 5,029 485,048
Short-term deposits 343,318 2,198 345,516 303,924 3,410 307,334
   Companies 145,319 165 145,483 110,252 0 110,252
   Households 11,587 141 11,728 43,226 288 43,513
   Public sector 147,225 0 147,225 112,833 0 112,833
   Non-profitable service providers 2,481 0 2,481 1,710 0 1,710
   Other financial institutions 36,290 1,891 38,182 31,924 3,121 35,045
   Non-residents 417 1 418 3,980 1 3,981
Long-term deposits 241,240 1,595 242,835 176,094 1,620 177,714
   Companies 26,147 0 26,147 16,179 0 16,179
   Households 91,899 232 92,131 76,673 791 77,464
   Public sector 24,206 0 24,206 3,923 0 3,923
   Non-profitable service providers 0 0 0 519 0 519
   Other financial institutions 97,323 0 97,323 72,423 744 73,167
   Non-residents 1,664 1,363 3,028 6,377 85 6,462
Total 983,837 10,825 994,662 752,520 11,039 763,559

As of 13 December 2014, in accordance with the “Regula-
tion on the books of account and annual reports of banks 
and savings banks”, the layout of financial statements was 
made compliant with the Implementing Technical Standards 

on Supervisory Reporting and FINREP. In the short layout 
of the statement of financial position, the item “Deposits 
from central banks” shall be included under “Deposits 
from banks and central banks”.
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14.3 Loans from banks

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Total loans from banks 298,849 335,708

Long-term loans from banks 298,849 335,708

 - EUR 178,299 217,426

 - Foreign currencies 120,550 118,282

Structure by type, currency and maturity

14.4 Loans from non-banks
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Short-term loans from non-banks 2,981 2,973

Long-term loans from non-banks 0 0

Total 2,981 2,973

14.5 Debt instruments

14.6 Subordinated liabilities

thousand EUR

The bank paid EUR 2,686 thousand of interest in 2014 
(2013: EUR 696 thousand) on its subordinated liabilities.

Structure

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Subordinated liabilities to non-residents in EUR 60,900 60,919

Total 60,900 60,919

thousand EUR31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Short-term loans from non-banks 9,908 0

Long-term loans from non-banks 2,007 0

Total 11,915 0

thousand EUR
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15. Long-term provisions

thousand EUR
Structure

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Pending lawsuits 107 81

Employee benefits 1,126 803

Off-balance sheet liabilities 225 150

Other provisions 0 0

Total 1,458 1,034

As at 31 December 2014, the pending lawsuits in which the 
bank acted as defendant amounted to EUR 7,403 thousand 
(2013: EUR 781 thousand). Provisions set aside by the 
bank for this purpose were EUR 107 thousand (2013: EUR 

81 thousand). The Management Board is of the opinion that 
the provisions are sufficient in view of the potential future 
liabilities arising from such lawsuits.

thousand EUR

Movements

Off-balance 
sheet 

liabilities
Employee 

benefits Other
Pending 
lawsuits Total

1 January 150 803 0 81 1,034

Increases 1,427 363 0 40 1,830

Decreases -1,352 -40 0 -14 -1,406

31 December 225 1,126 0 107 1,458

Movements in 2014

14.7. Other financial liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Liabilities to suppliers 2,346 1,487

Settlements of bank cards 298 298

Settlements of business operations 1,669 1,342

Accrued salaries, taxes and contributions payable 1,006 771

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,298 1,363

Other financial liabilities 521 32

Total 7,138 5,293
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thousand EUR

Off-balance 
sheet 

liabilities
Employee 

benefits Other
Pending 
lawsuits Total

1 January 147 522 5 96 770

Increases 1,628 82 2 11 1,930

Increase through retained earnings 0 207 0 0 0

Decreases -1,626 -8 -7 -26 -1,667

31 December 150 803 0 81 1,034

Movements in 2013

16. Tax liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

TAX LIABILITIES 1,072 101

Current tax liabilities 914 101

Deferred tax liabilities 158 0

17. Other liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Other taxes payable 140 173

Deferred income 445 792

Total 585 965

18. Equity

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Subscribed capital 108,140 88,140

Capital reserves 27,248 27,248

Accumulated other comprehensive income 407 -2,891

Reserves from profit 6 6

Retained earnings (including income from the current year) 11,065 5,371

TOTAL EQUITY 146,866 117,874

thousand EUR

Current tax liabilities represent remaining income tax obligation for the year 2014.
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Balance sheet profit for 2014
thousand EUR

Net profit for the financial year 2014 5,694

Net profit for the financial year 2013, for which the bank is going to propose to shareholders to remain 
unallocated 5,694

Balance sheet profit for 2014 was EUR 5,693,851.12EUR, 
correction of balance sheet profit for previous year was 
EUR  207,251.45. 

Accumulated profit carried forward from previous years 
shall remain unallocated.

Balance sheet profit for 2013
thousand EUR

Net profit for the financial year 2013 1,158

Acturial profit/loss recognized in retained earnings -207

Net profit for the financial year 2013, for which the bank is going to Propose to shareholders to remain 
unallocated 951

At year-end 2014, book value of a share calculated based 
on the bank’s total equity was EUR 5.66, which is EUR 0.09 
more than as per 31.12.2013.

In 2014, profit per share was EUR 0.22.

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Profit or loss after tax 5,693,851 1,158,022

Shares outstanding 25,932,948 21,136,784

Average shares 23,350,398 21,136,784

Basic earnings per share 0.22 0.05

Diluted earnings per share 0.26 0.05

EUR

In June 2014, Sberbank Europe AG, Austria, recapitalised 
the bank by issuing 4,796,164 ordinary registered par-
value shares for a total amount of EUR 20,000,003.88. 
This increased the bank’s subscribed capital to EUR 
108,140,393.16 in June 2014, after registration with the 
Central Securities Clearing Corporation. Sberbank Europe 
AG owed 99.98% of Sberbank d.d..

Subscribed capital comprised 25,928,098 ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of EUR 4.17.
Capital reserves stood the same as at the end of year 
2013.

Accumulated other comprehensive income stood at mi-
nus EUR 407 thousand as at year-end 2014. It relates to 

fair value valuation of available-for-sale financial assets, 
recognisable in comprehensive income (IAS 39). It also 
relates to actuarial gains/losses previously recognised in 
retained earnings.

As of 13 December 2014, in accordance with the “Regula-
tion on the books of account and annual reports of banks 
and savings banks”, the layout of financial statements was 
made compliant with the Implementing Technical Standards 
on Supervisory Reporting and FINREP. In the short layout 
of the statement of financial position, the expression “Re-
valuation surplus” shall be replaced with the expression 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income, while net 
profit/loss for the year shall be combined with retained earn-
ings into one item.
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In accordance with the bank’s Statute, the general meeting 
decides on the usage of accumulated profit at the proposal 
of the Managing and Supervisory Boards. While this pro-
posal is not binding for the general meeting, the approved 
annual report is. Its resolution on usage of the accumulated 
profit must contain the following information:

• the amount of the accumulated profit;
• the amount of profit distributed to shareholders;
• the amount of profit allocated to other reserves from 

profit;
• the amount of profit carried forward to the following 

year; and

• the amount of profit appropriated for other purposes 
provided for in the bank’s Statute.

The resolution on appropriation of the accumulated profit 
does not change the approved annual report. The general 
meeting cannot decide on matters concerning the bank’s 
management, unless if so required by the Management 
Board.

Other reserves from profit were formed in previous years 
from profit and retained earnings for those years, and 
cannot be distributed to shareholders. They remained un-
changed at EUR 6 thousand in 2013.

19. Treasury shares
The bank has not bought back any of its shares, and does 
not have reserves for such transactions.

20. Off-balance sheet items
31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

- Contingencies arising from pledged collateral, acceptance and other contingencies and commitments  
  (including pledged assets for client’s liabilities) 134,058 89,789

- Extended loans and advances, overdrafts, credit lines carried on assets side and other off-balance 245,434 108,970

- Notional amounts of spot transactions 1,171 15,860

- Notional amounts of derivatives 271,244 142,107

Total risky items 651,907 356,626

- Other off-balance sheet items 220,000 120,000

- Guarantees received 2,752,331 2,496,305

Bank’s financial assets pledged for the bank’s liabilities and financial assets in pooling of underlying 
assets at Banka Slovenije 181,559 198,221

Total risk-free items 3,153,890 2,814,526

Total off-balance sheet items 3,805,797 3,171,152

As at year-end 2014, the bank had off-balance sheet items in-
volving some risk of EUR 651,907 thousand, and off-balance 

sheet items involving no risk of EUR 3,153,890 thousand.

thousand EUR
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21. Net interest and similar income and expenses
Net interest income

2014 2013

Net interest income 33,988 24,982

Income 53,351 46,326

Deposits at central bank 14 38

Financial assets held for trading 812 635

Derivatives (hedge accounting) 0 0

Available-for-sale financial assets 3,145 5,429

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) 49,041 39,886

Held-to-maturity financial assets 340 339

Other financial assets 0 0

Expenses -19,363 -21,344

Financial liabilities to Central bank - short term -56 0

Financial assets to Central bank - long term -33 -149

Financial liabilities held for trading -795 -637

Derivatives (hedge accounting) 0 0

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -18,479 -20,558

By type

               2014             2013
Income Expenses Income Expenses

Regular 49,648 19,363 43,411 21,344
Default 1,108 0 989 0
Accrued fees similar to interest 2,595 0 1,926 0
Total 53,351 19,363 46,326 21,344

22. Dividend income

The bank did not receive dividends in 2014. 

thousand EUR

thousand EUR

2014 2013

Up to one year 889 740

From one to five years 3,545 2,927

More than five years 7,439 6,045

Total future lease payments 11,873 9,712

Future lease payments – bank as lessee under operating lease contracts:
thousand EUR
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23. Net fee and commission income

2014 2013

INCOME 8,653 5,548

From issuing guarantees 34 2

From domestic payments 1,539 1,157

From international payments 1,102 648

From intermediary and commission deals 242 197

From securities business 0 0

From credit operations 826 616

For providing administrative services 4,910 2,928

EXPENSES 1,534 992

Domestic banking services 232 146

Foreign banking services 825 662

Agency and fiduciary business 345 112

Brokerage and other securities transactions 20 13

Payment transactions 64 36

Other services 48 23

NET FEES AND COMISSIONS 7,119 4,556

thousand EUR

24. Realised gains/losses from financial assets/liabilities not at fair 
value through profit or loss

2014 2013

Net realised gains/losses 5,527 1,579

Realised gains 6,456 1,723

Available-for-sale financial assets 6,411 1,721

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) 45 1

Realised losses -930 -144

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) 0 0

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -929 -141

Other financial assets and liabilities -1 -3

thousand EUR

In 2014, realised gains from available-for-sale financial as-
sets were the highest. They arose on disposal of bonds is-

sued by the governments of Slovenia, Germany and Aus-
tria and SID bank.
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25. Net gains/losses from financial assets/liabilities held for trading

2014 2013

Net gains/losses 2,787 -671

 Trading in shares and interests 0 0

 Trading in debt securities and loans 0 0

 Trading in foreign exchange and precious metals 43 225

    Companies -5 173

    Households 48 52

  Derivatives 2,744 -896

    Forwards -1,722 227

    Swaps 4,772 -1,191

    Options -6,493 68

thousand EUR

26. Foreign exchange gains/losses

2014 2013

Net gains/losses -1,848 1,137

  Foreign exchange gains 5,236 16,083

  Foreign exchange losses -7,083 -14,946

thousand EUR

27. Gains/losses on derecognition of assets other than held for sale

2014 2013

Net gains/losses 39 -7

  Gains 47 11

  Losses -8 -18

thousand EUR

28. Other net operating income

2014 2013

Other net operating income 131 298

Income 327 383

    Income for non-banking services 49 49

    Other operating income 278 335

Expenses -196 -85

   Membership fees -48 -58

   Other operating expenses -148 -27

thousand EUR
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29. Administrative expenses
thousand EUR

2014 2013

Labour costs

  -gross salaries 9,928 8,017

  -social security contributions 588 462

  -pension insurance contributions 1,135 915

  -other payroll duties 93 76

  -other labour costs 879 649

      of which provisions for retirement and anniversary bonuses 130 82

Total 12,623 10,119

Costs of material and services   

  Material 204 357

  Rentals 700 620

  Services 2,286 2,623

   Consulting and auditing 378 252

   Security 315 325

   Legal 63 50

   Provided by Sberbank Europe 1,046 1,606

   Postage, telecommunication and data transfer 485 390

  Advertising 1,687 1,037

  Entertainment 105 80

  Seminars and school fees 244 105

  Maintenance 1,117 821

  Other 2,435 2,220

Total 8,778 7,863

Total administrative expenses 21,401 17,982

30. Amortisation and depreciation

2014 2013

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,083 818

Amortisation of intangible assets 887 679

Total amortisation/depreciation charge 196 138

thousand EUR

 As in 2013, the bank used the linear amortisation/depreci-
ation method in year 2014.
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31. Impairments and provisions
Impairments and provisions in 2014

thousand EUR

Recognition of 
impairments and 

provisions 

Derecognition 
of impairments 

provisions Total
Loans -26,730 8,655 -18,075
Interest 0 0 0
Other -263 50 -213
Impairments -26,993 4,555 -18,288
Provisions for off-balance items -1,427 1,352 -75
Provisions for pending lawsuits -40 15 -25
Other provisions 0 0 0
Provisions -1,467 1,367 -100
Total impairments and provisions -28,460 5,922 -18,389

In accordance with the accounting policies of Sberbank Eu-
rope AG, the bank is showing provisions for retirement and 

anniversary bonuses under labour costs.

Impairments and provisions in 2013
thousand EUR

32. Net profit or loss for the current year

In 2014, the bank earned a net profit from continuing opera-
tions of EUR 6,871  thousand. The tax calculated by the 

bank was minus EUR 1,117 thousand, and net profit for 
2014 was EUR 5,694 thousand.

Recognition of 
impairments and 

provisions 

Derecognition 
of impairments 

provisions Total
Loans -16,124 4,509 -11,615
Interest 0 6 6
Other -168 41 -127
Impairments -16,292 4,555 -11,736
Provisions for off-balance items -1,627 1,626 -1
Provisions for pending lawsuits -10 0 -10
Other provisions 0 0 0
Provisions -1,637 1,626 -11
Total impairments and provisions -17,929 6,181 -11,747



93SBERBANK Si  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014

33. Analysis of income and expense by markets

2014 2013

Total income (gross) 93,276 79,601

Income earned in foreign markets 20,568 20,663

Share of income earned in foreign markets 22.05 % 25.96 %

Total expenses (gross) 45,533 47,727

Expenses incurred in foreign markets 20,757 20,050

Share of expenses incurred in foreign markets 45.59 % 42.01 %

thousand EUR

The majority of income earned and expenses incurred in 
foreign markets arose from transactions with Sberbank 
Russia, Sberbank Europe AG and Sberbank d.d., Zagreb. 

There were also a huge cooperation with Barclays Bank 
PLC and Natixis bank in year 2014.

34. Auditing expenses
In accordance with a contract to audit the 2014 annual re-
port, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. the amount of EUR 
67,200 plus VAT.

In accordance with several contracts related to the reporting 
package audit, the bank paid Ernst & Young EUR 54,900 + 
VAT for the first three quarters of 2014.

The total amount spent on auditing in 2014 amounted 
to EUR 130,033 + VAT.

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2013 annual re-
port, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. the amount of EUR 
64,200 plus VAT.

In accordance with several contracts related to the reporting 
package audit, the bank paid Ernst & Young EUR 42,000 + 
VAT for the first three quarters of 2013.

The total amount spent on auditing in 2013 amounted 
to EUR 106,200 + VAT.
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35. Effective tax rate

2014 2013

Profit or loss from ordinary activities 6,870 1,326

Calculated tax liability at the statutory tax rate of 17% -1,168 -225

Difference to the actual tax liability -9 57

Additions to tax base (non-deductible entertainment expenses, donations, employee benefits) -40 -30

Tax incentives (capital investments, research & development) 68 52

Actuarial Gains/losses from provisions for pensions -37 35

Income tax in the income statement -1,177 -168

Effective tax rate 17.13 % 12.7 %

thousand EUR

36. Number of employees
In 2014, the bank had 300 employees on average. As at 
year-end 2014, it had 325 employees. In accordance with 
the Klasius classification – classification system of educa-

tion & training, the educational structure of the employees 
was the following:

37. Organisational units abroad

The bank does not have organisational units abroad.

Level of education under the Klasius qualification Number Share

V. level / high school education 126 39%

VI/1. level college degree education 21 7%

VI/2. level / Bologna declaration, 1st degree, Bachelor’s study 76 23%

VII  level / Bologna declaration, 2nd degree, Master’s study 85 26%

VIII  level / Bologna declaration, 3rd degree, Doctoral study 17 5%
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31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
Fiduciary transactions 31,006 66,942
  Syndicated loans 31,006 66,942
  Agency transactions 0 0

38. Fiduciary transactions

Agency transactions (transactions with clients)

The bank did not have assets or liabilities arising from 
agency transactions as at 31 December 2014 and as 31 
December 2013.

thousand EUR

39. Documents on participation rights, convertible bonds

The bank does not have documents relating to participation 
rights or convertible bonds.

40. Assets pledged as collateral
As at year-end 2014, the bank had 102,964,498.69 EUR of 
first-class securities and 77,100,000 EUR loans with first-
-class insurance, placed with Banka Slovenije to secure 
payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s secondary 
liquidity.  As at year-end 2014, the bank had EUR 21 million 
pledged to secure SEPA payment transactions.

As at year-end 2013, the bank had EUR 123,540,695 of 
first-class securities placed with Banka Slovenije and 
EUR 52,800,000 loans with first-class insurance to secure 
payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s secondary 
liquidity.

41. Subordinated instruments
The bank does not have investments in others’ subordinated 
instruments.

2014 2013

Fee and commission income from (ancillary) investment services for clients 0 1

Acceptance, transmission and execution of orders 0 1

Fee and commission expenses from (ancillary) investment services for clients 0 0

thousand EUR

Net fees and commission from investment services and transactions
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42. Related parties

Management 
Board 

members

Key 
managment
personnel*

Close family 
members of 

Management Board 
members and 

key management 
personnel**

Sberbank 
of Russia

Other 
related 
parties

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0 966 461

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 50,022

Loans and receivables to banks 0 0 0 9,955 92,456

Loans and receivables to non-bank customer 36 1,029 272 0 5,157

Held-to-maturity investments 0 0 0 0 0

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 1,614

Other assets 0 0 0 0 55

Total assets 36 1,029 272 10,921 149,765

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 922 2,242

Deposits from banks 0 0 0 100,002 10,693

Deposits from non-banks 44 96 408 0 607

Loans and advances from banks 0 0 0 136,891 0

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 52,006

Other liabilities 0 0 0 0 1,437

Total liabilities 44 96 408 237,815 66,985

thousand EUR
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014
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Management 
Board 

members
Key 

managers*

Close family 
members of 

Management Board 
members and 

key management 
personnel**

Sberbank 
of Russia

Other 
related 
parties

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0 4 353

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 50,025

Loans to and receivables from banks 0 0 0 36 1,086

Loans and receivables to non-bank customer 48 573 297 0 4,506

Held-to-maturity investments 0 0 0 0 0

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 1,614

Other assets 0 0 0 7 83

Total assets 48 573 297 47 57,667

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 310 1,293

Deposits from banks 0 0 0 55,099 75,019

Deposits from non-banks 91 118 349 0 489

Loans and advances from banks 0 0 0 235,276 0

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 52,012

Other liabilities 0 0 0 0 534

Total liabilities 91 118 349 290,685 129,347

thousand EUR

* Key managers: procurators, directors.
**Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013
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Management 
Board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

Management 
board and key 

management 
personnel**

Sberbank 
of Russia

Other 
related 
parties

Net interest income -1 16 4 -1,532 -1,238

Net fee and commission income 0 1 1 -328 -60

Gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 607 -925

Gains and losses on available-for-sale 
financial assets and liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

Other operating income 0 3 0 0 56

Administration costs -17 -18 0 -2 -991

Risk provisions 0 -4 0 0 0

Release of credit risk provisions 8 4 0 0 0

Total -10 2 5 -1,255 -3,157

thousand EUR

Income statement for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2014

thousand EUR
Income statement for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2013

* Key managers: procurators, directors.
**Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Management 
Board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

Management 
board and key 

management 
personnel**

Sberbank 
of Russia

Other 
related 
parties

Net interest income -1 11 4 -2,186 257

Net fee and commission income 1 1 1 -331 -50

Gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 -1,034 407

Gains and losses on available-for-sale 
financial assets and liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

Other operating income 0 3 0 0 27

Administration costs -13 -8 0 0 -1,332

Risk provisions -8 0 0 0 0

Release of credit risk provisions 0 0 0 0 0

Total -21 7 5 -3,553 -691
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Terms and exposures of Management Board members and Key management personnel as at 31 December 2014

2014 Maturity Currency
Interest 

rate

Type of 
interest 

rate Collateral
Loan 

exposure
Repayment 

in years 
Management Board 
members long-term EUR 0.070 variable mortgage, 

pledge of insurance 33 12

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 4.060 fixed

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company, cash deposit

57 4

Key management 
personnel 
(contracted before 
1 Jan 2005)

long-term EUR 0.566 variable
mortgage, 

pledge of insurance, 
insurance company

24 3

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 1.939 variable

mortgage, 
pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, 
insurance company

939 36

Total      1,053 55

thousand EUR

Terms and exposures of Management Board members and Key management personnel as at 31 December 2013

thousand EUR

Key management personnel include procurators and direc-
tors.

The bank does not have internal owners and therefore does 
not disclose their receipts. 

The terms applicable to the transactions with members of 
the Managing and Supervisory Boards and employees with 
individual employment contracts are the same as those ap-
plicable to other bank employees and their family members, 
i.e. the same as those laid down in the bank’s official tariff.

2013 Maturity Currency
Interest 

rate

Type of 
interest 

rate Collateral
Loan 

exposure
Repayment 

in years 
Management Board 
members long-term EUR 0.290 variable mortgage, 

pledge of insurance 45 5

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 4.058 fixed

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company, cash deposit

61 7

Key management 
personnel 
(contracted before 
1 Jan 2005)

long-term EUR 0.765 variable
mortgage, 

pledge of insurance, 
insurance company

26 5

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 2.215 variable

mortgage, 
pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, 
insurance company

480 27

Total      613 44
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thousand EUR
Gross Receipts of Management and Supervisory Board members in 2014

Gašpar 
Ogris-Martič

Aleš 
Zajc

Sergey 
Ludentsov

Johann 
Staudigl

Elisabeth 
Friedl

for period: 1.1.-
31.12.2014

1.1-
31.12.2014

1.1.-
31.12.2014

1.1.-
31.3.2014

1.4.-
31.12.2014

Fix remuneration (gross salary) 171 218 236 38 113

Variable pay (gross bonus) 45 47 41 30 0

Profit sharing

Option and other rewards

Insurance and pension insurance 20 10 0 4 46

Costs reimbursment1) 18 2 41 3 13

Provisions and other additional 
receipts (fringe benefits)

Total 254 277 318 75 172

thousand EUR
Gross Receipts of Management and Supervisory Board members in 2013

Receipts of employees with individual employment contracts in 2014

Employees with individual employment contracts

Gross receipts 968

Profit sharing 0

Total 968

As at year-end 2014, the bank had four members of the Ma-
nagement Board, five members of the Supervisory Board, 

and 12 employees with individual employment contracts. 
The bank also had six procurators.

thousand EUR

1) lunch reimbursement, internet, accommodation & utility costs, plane  tickets, parking, etc

Gašpar 
Ogris-Martič

Aleš 
Zajc

Johann 
Staudigl

Sergey 
Ludentsov

Supervisory 
Board 

members

Fix receipts (salary) 166 192 144 226 0

Variable pay (bonus) 60 69 51 69 0

Profit sharing 0 0 0 0 0

Option and other rewards 0 0 0 0 0

Insurance and pension 
insurance 20 9 16 0.3 0

Costs reimbursment1) 19 0 12 23 0

Provisions and other additional 
receipts (fringe benefits) 7 7 6 34 0

Total 272 277 229 329 0
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43. Notes to the cash flow statement
The bank prepared the cash flow statement in accordance 
with the indirect method using the income statement and 
balance sheet data. Within cash equivalents, it included 
all financial assets with an original maturity of up to three 
months. Under IAS 7, these are short-term, highly liquid as-
sets that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 

and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Any 
differences between the data from two consecutive balance 
sheets and the data from the income statement for the pe-
riod between them were corrected to ensure that inflows 
were as close as possible to receipts and outflows to ex-
penses.

thousand EUR

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2012

thousand EUR

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2013

1. Cash and balances with central bank 192,573

2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 31,983

    Transaction accounts abroad 9,869

    Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 11,911

    Overnight deposits abroad 0

    Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 0

  Other short-term investments in foreign banks                         10,203
TOTAL 224,556

thousand EUR

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2014

1. Cash and balances with central bank 166,331

2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 63,182

    Transaction accounts abroad 1,547

    Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 4,152

    Overnight deposits abroad 0

    Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 2,483

  Other short-term investments in foreign banks                         55,000

TOTAL 229,513

1. Cash and balances with central bank 174,683

2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 2,313

    Transaction accounts abroad 659

    Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 1,654

    Overnight deposits abroad 0

    Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 0

  Other short-term investments in foreign banks                         0
TOTAL 176,996
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thousand EUR

Interest and dividends received and paid in 2013 and in 2014

 2014 2013

Interest received 55,459 48,098

Interest paid 19,934 20,814

Dividends received 0 0

Dividends paid 0 0

44. Post-balance sheet events
In the period between the submission of the financial state-
ments contained herein and the completion of this report, 
the bank did not experience any significant business events 

that would affect these financial statements, the results of 
its operations and other disclosures made herein.
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HEADQUARTERS       
Sberbank banka d.d. 
Dunajska 128 a 
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia 
T +386 (0)1 53 07 400 
F +386 (0)1 53 07 555 
info@sberbank.si 
www.sberbank.si

BRANCHES 

Ljubljana

Dunajska cesta 128 a  
SI-1000 Ljubljana   
T +386 (1) 53 07 530  
F +386 (1) 53 07 560  
 
 
Pavšičeva 4   
SI-1000 Ljubljana   
T +386 (1) 50 00 790  
F +386 (1) 50 00 796  
 

Cesta na Brdo 69
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 24 12 042
F +386 (1) 24 12 047

Miklošičeva 30
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 23 49 390
F +386 (1) 23 49 392

Gosposka ulica 1
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 24 10 172
F +386 (1) 24 10 192

Kranj 
    
Na skali 6   
SI-4000 Kranj   
T +386 (4) 20 13 880  
F +386 (4) 20 13 888  
 

Maribor    

Poslovna zgradba City Jug  
Ul. Heroja Bračiča 6   
SI-2000 Maribor 
T +386 (2) 23 80 345
F +386 (2) 23 80 344 

Šentjur 
   
Mestni trg 2   
SI-3230 Šentjur pri Celju  
T +386 (3) 74 71 840  
F +386 (3) 74 71 842  
 

Koper

Pristaniška 43 a
SI-6000 Koper
T +386 (5) 66 34 861
F +386 (5) 66 34 872

Celje

Prešernova 27
SI-3000 Celje
T +386 (3) 42 87 802
F +386 (3) 42 87 818

Šentjernej

Levičnikova cesta 2
SI-8310 Šentjernej
T +386 (7) 39 42 680
F +386 (7) 39 42 683

Tepanje

Poslovni center Tepanje
Tepanje 28 d
SI-3210 Slovenske Konjice
T +386 (3) 75 80 850
F +386 (3) 75 80 852

Our network
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SBERBANK EUROPE AG 

Austria
Sberbank Europe AG 
Schwarzenbergplatz 3, 
1010 Vienna, Austria
T +43 (0) 1227320
office@sberbank.at
www.sberbank.at

Germany
Sberbank Direct
Gerbermühlstraße 9
60594 Frankfurt am Main - Sachsenhausen-Süd
T +386 (0) 69 6677745777
F +386 (0) 69 6677745799

Bosnia and Herzegovina
Sberbank BH d.d. Sarajevo 
Fra Anđela Zvizdovića 1 
71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina 
T +387 (0)33 29 47 00 
F +387 (0)33 26 38 32 
info@sberbank.ba 
www.sberbank.ba 

Sberbank a.d. Banja Luka 
Jevrejska 71 
78 000 Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina 
T +387 (0)51 241 100 
F +387 (0)51 213 391 
info@sberbankbl.ba 
www.sberbankbl.ba

Croatia
Sberbank d.d. 
Varšavska 9 
10000 Zagreb, Croatia 
T +385 (0)1 4801 300 
F +385 (0)1 4801 365 
info@sberbank.hr 
www.sberbank.hr

Slovenia   
Sberbank banka d.d. 
Dunajska 128a 
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia 
T +386 (0)1 53 07 400 
F +386 (0)1 53 07 555 
info@sberbank.si 
www.sberbank.si

Hungary 
Sberbank Hungary Ltd 
Rákóczi út 7 
1088 Budapest, Hungary 
T +36 (0)1 328 66 66 
F +36 (0)1 328 66 60 
info@sberbank.hu 
www.sberbank.hu

Czech Republic   
Sberbank CZ, a.s. 
Na Pankráci 129 
140 00 Praha 4, Czech Republic 
T +42 (0)221 969 911 
F +42 (0)221 969 951 
mail@sberbankcz.cz 
www.sberbankcz.cz  

Serbia  
Sberbank Srbija a.d. Beograd 
Bulevar Mihaila Pupina 165g 
11070 Novi Beograd, Serbia 
T +381 (0)11 201 69 69 
F +381 (0)11 201 32 70 
info@sberbank.rs 
www.sberbank.rs
   
Slovakia 
Sberbank Slovensko, a.s. 
Vysoká 9, P.O. Box 81 
81000 Bratislava, Slovakia 
T +421 (0)2 5965 1111 
F +421 (0)2 5441 1112 
market@sberbank.sk 
www.sberbank.sk

Ukraine
VS Bank PJSC 
Hrabovskoho str. 11 
79000 Lviv, Ukraine 
T +380 (0)32 297 13 82 
F +380 (0)32 297 05 83 
contact@vsbank.com.ua 
www.vsbank.com.ua
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Published by

Sberbank banka d.d. 
Dunajska 128a 
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia 
T +386 (0)1 53 07 400 
F +386 (0)1 53 07 555 
info@sberbank.si
www.sberbank.si
www.zamenjajbanko.si
www.e-obresti.si
080 22 65


